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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 17-A      
 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 
AND SECTION 141 OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 

 
1.  For the fiscal year ended    May 31, 2020 
 
2.  SEC Identification No.        AS094-006309    
             
3.  BIR Tax Identification No.  004-451-425-000 
 
4.  Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter   BOULEVARD HOLDINGS, INC. 

 
5.  Makati City, Philippines                                    6.    (              )   (SEC Use only)  
     Province, Country or other jurisdiction of                      Industry Classification Code: 
     incorporation or organization  
 
7.   Unit 1704 The Peak Tower, 107 L.P. Leviste St., Salcedo Village, Makati City, Philippines 
      Address of principal office          Postal Code  1227 
 
8    (632) 7753-1405 
      Issuer’s telephone number, including area code 
 
9.   Not applicable 
     Former name, former, address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Section 8 & 12 of the SRC, or Sec 4 and 8 of the  
      RSA  
 

a) Authorized Capital Stock Title of Each Class     
              Common shares, P=0.10 par value                 12,000,000,000 shares       
                                                                                             P=1,200,000,000 
b) Issued 

                    Common shares, P=0.10 par value                        12,000,000,000 shares 
              Amount                                                                 P=1,200,000,000            
 
c) Amount of Debt Outstanding as of May 31, 2020     
                Total                                                                    P= 347,701,689 

                 
11.   Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange 
 
        Yes   (  /   )                                                                 No   (    ) 
         
        Stock Exchange                          :  Philippine Stock Exchange 
        Class of Securities Listed           :  Common stocks 
 
         
12.   Check whether the issuer: 

 
(a) has filed all report to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder or section 

11 of the RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Section 26 and 141 of the Corporation Code of the 
Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period that the registrant 
was required to file such reports): 

 
       Yes   (   / )                  No   (   )   
 
(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days 
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      Yes     (  /  )            No    (    ) 
 
13. Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates: 

The aggregate voting stock of registrant held outside of its affiliates and/or officers and employees 
totaled 7,241,201,213 (for details please refer to the attached Schedule G of this report) while its closing 
market price was at P= 0.026 per share as of May 31, 2020. The total market value of registrant’s voting 
stock not held by its affiliates and/or officers and employees was computed to be P= 188,271,232. 

      
 
 

APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN 
INSOLVENCY/SUSPENSION OF PAYMENTS PROCEEDING 

DURING THE PRECEDING FIVE YEAR 
 
14.  Check whether the issuer has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the 

Code subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court or the Commission. 
 
                 Yes    (   )       No  (  / )   
 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
 
15.  If any of the following documents are incorporated by reference, briefly describe them and identify the    
       part of SEC Form 17-A into which the document is incorporated: 
 

(a) Any annual report to security holders; 
       None 
      
(b) Any information statement filed pursuant to SRC Rule 20; 

                               None 
 
(c) Any prospectus filed pursuant to SCR Rule 8.1 
       None 
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PART I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1 – Business 
 
This report contains reference to Boulevard Holdings, Inc.  (“BHI” or the “Registrant” or 
“Company” or “Group”) and its subsidiaries, Friday’s Holdings, Inc. (“FHI”), Fridays Puerto 
Galera, Inc. (“FPGI”), and Crown One Land, Inc. (“COLI”). 
  
a. Business Development 
 
The Company  
Boulevard Holdings, Inc. 
 
Boulevard Holdings, Inc., established and incorporated on July 13, 1994, is a holding company 
with its primary interests in the following businesses: ownership of companies involved in the 
development of hotels and resorts & tourism-related businesses and investments in strategic land 
locations & rentable real estate properties. BHI subsidiaries are significant market leaders in their 
respective market niches for their products, catering to premiere and elite clients to maintain 
relatively higher profit margins. The group aims to concentrate in the hospitality and leisure 
business as well as to obtain lease and commission income from its management over the 3,000 
hectares Puerto Azul resort.  Friday’s Beach Resorts will enhance the total operations of BHI. Our 
resort business will continuously deliver exceptional quality service to its guests, which Friday’s is 
noted for, enhancing its already strong repeat customer base.   It will continue to improve its 
present facilities and will strengthen its sought-after guest rooms.  The company has also 
determined to create long term value by increasing its capitalization, entering into JV’s for tourist 
destination development and commanding a significant share in the primary resort home market 
outside Metro Manila, especially with government decongestion efforts to improve travel time.  In 
addition, the planned developments in the Province of Cavite to create a duty free seaport, 
residential and industrial districts, and airport by some conglomerates will directly benefit 
shareholders value of the Company.  This vision is in line with the many urban designers calls to 
further develop South and Southwest of Metro Manila.  In the latest assessment of tourism industry 
in the Philippines, the government believes the prospects are brighter for the Philippine tourism 
industry due to:  a) influx of worldwide holiday travelers and visitors; b) increasing leisure guests 
due to growing resort destinations; c) as a tourist destination,  the Philippines is loaded with the 
abundant attractions the  travelers wanted to explore and experience what the country and its 
people can offer; d) increasing the numbers of  direct international flights  in Metro Manila and in  
various  cities and provinces; and e) the warmth, friendliness and smiles of Filipinos that lure the 
international tourists. 
 
On January 19, 2010, the SEC approved the amendment to increase its capital stock from               
P=200,000,000 divided into two (2) billion shares with the par value of P=0.10 each to P=800,000,000 
divided into eight (8) billion shares with the par value  of  P=0.10 each.  The issuance of six (6) 
billion new BHI shares was in consideration for the acquisition of seven parcels of land, located at 
Ternate, Cavite with an aggregate area of 1,066,012 square meters. The properties-for-shares swap 
arrangement was certified by the BIR as a tax-deferred exchange under Section 40(C)(2) of the 
Tax Code of 1997, in a certification issued on November 27, 2009.  The six (6) billion new shares 
were issued to JP Guilds, Inc. on February 9, 2010. 
 
On February 28, 2012, the SEC approved to increase its capital stock from P=800,000,000 divided 
into eight (8) billion shares with the par value of P=0.10 each to P=1,200,000,000 divided into twelve 
(12) billion shares with the par value of P=0.10 each.  
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The Company filed several Notices of Exemption during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2013 with 
the SEC for the issuance of the total 1,867,040,149 common shares and for the fiscal year ended 
May 31, 2014 for the issuance of the total 2,166,106,443 common shares which resulted in the full 
subscription of BHI authorized capital stock of 12 billion common shares with the par value of  P=
0.10 each. As at October 20, 2017, BHI authorized capital stock has been fully paid up. 
 
The Board Pursuant to the authority granted by the stockholders on November 19, 2010 allowing 
the increase of authorized capital stock up to an amount to be determined by the Board not 
exceeding P2.8 Billion Pesos, the Board approved to further increase its authorized capital stock 
from P1.2 Billion Pesos divided into 12 Billion shares with par value of P0.10 per share to P1.44 
Billion Pesos divided into 14.4 Billion shares with par value of P0.10 per share. The increase in the 
authorized capital stock shall be subscribed by JP Guilds, Inc. at the subscription price from 
P0.12/share per approval last November 10, 2017 to P0.10/share and subsequently approved by the 
stockholders during the Annual Stockholders Meeting on April 20, 2018. 
 
The National Government ordered closure in Boracay which took effect on April 26, 2018 had 
been accepted by all to give time for the environmental and its quiet beauty to recuperate from 
overbuilding, squatting and palpable abuse. Though on the surface many, including BHI’s 
subsidiary employees, have complained, the expected end result from President Rodrigo Duterte’s 
swift actions is powerful and profitable for our investment in Boracay in the future:  a) the beach 
and shoreline will get back its early 80’s virgin tropical look; there will be less buildable land 
parcels due to finally restored wetlands and forests against increasing demand; and c) the DOT and 
DENR study restricting per annum number of visitors will push up hotel and tourism prices for 
those lucky enough to reserve in the annual slots of visitors.  Demand will be greater than supply 
for Boracay overall which will translate to improved business profitability. 
 
Boracay Island reopened to tourist activities on October 26, 2018.  FHI started accepting bookings 
on October 30, 2018 and on November 7, 2018, the Boracay Inter-Agency Task Force included 
Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort in its list allowed to accept bookings and reservations. On 
November 15, 2018 Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort received the DOT accreditation as a resort. 
 
After the 6 months rehabilitation of the Boracay Island last 2018, the National Government ordered 
an Enhanced Community Quarantine which took effect on March 15, 2020, as prescribed by the 
Inter-Agency Task Force (IATF) for the Management of Emerging Infectious Diseases particulary 
the Covid19. The pandemic has forced Friday’s Boracay Resort’s temporary closure on March 17, 
2020 while Friday’s Puerto Galera Resort’s temporary closure on March 14, 2020. The pandemic 
caused by COVID-19 effected tourism and travel that resulted to permanent closure of some 
restaurants and other businesses. Being one of the visited resorts in the country and business 
enganged in the tourism industry, the Covid19 has greatly affected both Friday’s Resorts’s 
operations due to the strict implementation of travel restrictions and requirements resulting to 
lower number of incoming tourists – domestic and international. The Group has to re-assess and 
implement new procedures to address the risks for the re-opening of both Friday’s Resort which is 
set in the following months.  
 
The Company has investments in Friday’s Holdings, Inc., Friday’s Puerto Galera, Inc., and in 
Crown One Land, Inc.   It owns properties at Ternate, Cavite for future site of the 3rd Friday’s hotel 
brand and for other developments.  BHI has investment properties in several condominium units 
located at Asian Mansion II Condominium, LPL Greenhills Condominium and Burgundy 
Corporate Tower Condominium, which are for lease and a unit at The Peak Tower Condominium, 
which is used as the registered corporate office of Company. On February 22, 2019, the 
management disclosed to the public its decision to sell its entire portfolio of condominiums to 
concentrate on the core businesses of resort and hotel development. 
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Business Segment and Subsidiaries 
 
The Registrant and its subsidiaries in 2020 operate primarily in segments of providing world-class 
hotel and resort amenities and investment holding. The hospitality and leisure business segment of 
concentration of the Group comes from Friday’s Holdings, Inc., owner and operator of Friday’s 
Boracay Beach Resort (“FBBR”) in Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan, Crown One Land, Inc., and 
Friday’s Puerto Galera, Inc. which is the owner and operator of Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach 
Resort (“FPGBR”) to replicate the success of the original Friday’s Beach Resort in Boracay. 

 
 
Friday’s Holdings, Inc.  
  
FHI is the owner and operator of Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort in Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan.  
FBBR, established in 1989, is a pioneer AAA accredited luxury resort in the island with 41 native 
cottage-styled rooms and 11-room villa as of May 31, 2020. It has a 120-seat beachfront restaurant 
that offers Asian, European, fusion and Filipino cuisine with unparalled food and beverage service 
which is excellent for dining and entertainment venue. It is one of the leading resort hotel in 
Boracay and is set within an almost secluded beachfront area, which is considered to be one of the 
finest, widest and cleanest on the island.  FHI is a favorite tropical beach destination of local and 
foreign tourists nestled amid meticulously groomed tropical gardens and shady coconut trees, 
making it one of the Philippines most sought after vacation destination.  
 
FBBR is perfectly positioned on Boracay’s eye catching beach and is centrally located within the 
region. Boracay is a small island in the Philippines located approximately 315 km (196 miles) 
south of Manila and 2 km. off the northwest tip of Panay Island in the Western Visayas Region of 
the Philippines.  
 
The primary purpose for which the said corporation is formed is to act as manager or managing 
agents of persons, firms, associations, corporations, partnerships and other entities; to provide 
management, investment and technical advice for commercial, industrial, manufacturing and other 
kinds of enterprises; and to undertake, carry on, assist or participate in the promotion, organization, 
management, liquidation or reorganization of the corporations, partnerships and other entities, 
except the management of funds, securities, portfolio or similar assets of the managed entities or 
corporations. 
 
BHI is the beneficial owner of the 77% equity of FHI. It directly owns 55% while 22% is indirectly 
owned through COLI. 
 
 
Friday’s Puerto Galera, Inc.  

 
Friday’s Puerto Galera, Inc. is the owner of Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort in Boquete 
Island, Sto. Nino, Puerto Galera, Oriental Mindoro.  FPGI was incorporated on August 11, 2006.  

 
    Its primary purpose is to act as manager or managing agents of persons, firms, associations, 

corporations, partnerships and other entities, to provide management, investment and technical 
advice for commercial, industrial, manufacturing and other kinds of enterprises, and to undertake, 
carry on, assist or participate in the promotion, entities, except the management of funds, 
securities, portfolio or similar assets of the managed entities or corporations.   

  
The Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort has the luxurious native-style boutique hotel in the island 
with 24 villas that are fully operational. The Group’s intention is to expand to 70-90 keys from 24 
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with conference & MICE facilities in sustainable way. The architects are from the Maldives while 
the landscape architectural design, architectural and engineering design, and full interior design are 
by Palafox Associates. 
 
At present, BHI is the beneficial owner of the 45.46% equity of Friday’s Puerto Galera, Inc.  The 
Parent Company controls the financial and operating policies of FPGI by virtue of a shareholders’ 
agreement by the majority shareholders in favor of the minority shareholders.   

 
 
Crown One Land, Inc.  

 
Crown One Land, Inc., a 50% owned entity of BHI, is a part owner of Friday’s Boracay Beach 
Resort in Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan. It was incorporated on April 30, 1990. COLI is engaged 
in the real estate business and currently owns 44% of FHI.  

 
Its primary purpose is to acquire by purchase, lease, donation or otherwise, and to own, use, 
improve, develop, subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, develop, and hold for investment or 
otherwise, real estate of all kinds, whether improve, manage or otherwise dispose of buildings, 
houses, apartments, and other structures of whatever kind, together with their appurtenances. 
 
Any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings 
 
None. 
 
Any material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a significant 
amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business.  
 
On November 25, 2009 through properties-for-shares swap arrangement, Boulevard Holdings, Inc. 
acquired seven (7) parcels of land located at Barangay Sapang, Ternate, Cavite, with an aggregate 
area of one million sixty six thousand twelve (1,066,012) square meters, to be used for the site of 
the proposed third Friday’s Resort.  The exchange of the shares of stock for the property was 
certified by the Bureau of Internal Revenue as a tax-deferred exchange under Section 40(C)(2) of 
the Tax Code of 1997, in a certification issued on December 13, 2006. 
 
The above mentioned properties were appraised by an accredited appraiser, Cuervo Appraiser, Inc.  
on October 9, 2019 for P=2.76 billion.  The subject properties covered by shares-swap-arrangement   
were valued at P=900,000,000 representing 48.18% of the appraised value while the value of shares 
of stock acquired by JP Guilds, Inc. at 50% premium based on the prevailing market price of P=0.10 
per share. 
 
The said transaction increased the authorized capital stock by Six Hundred Million Pesos               
(P=600,000,000) divided into six (6) billion shares at a par value of P=0.10 per share.  The shares 
were fully subscribed and were paid in full by JP Guilds, Inc. by way of assignment of land.  The 
issuance of additional capital stock of six (6) billion common shares was valued at 50% above par  
or P=0.15 per share for a total of Nine Hundred Million Pesos (P=900,000,000) inclusive of  
additional paid-in capital of Three Hundred Million Pesos  (P=300,000,000).  The properties were 
subsequently registered in the name of BHI on April 14, 2010. 
  
The above-mentioned transactions were covered by the resolution adopted by the unanimous vote 
of the stockholders of BHI owning or representing at least two-thirds (2/3) of the issued and 
outstanding capital stock of the Corporation to increase from Two Hundred Million Pesos (P=
200,000,000) divided into two  (2) billion shares at a par value of P=0.10 each share, up to Five  (5)  
Billion Pesos divided into fifty (50) billion common shares at a par value of P=0.10 per share during 
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its annual stockholders’ meeting on February 7, 2007.  That the increase of authorized capital stock 
of the Corporation from Two Hundred Million Pesos (P=200,000,000) to Five Billion Pesos (P=
5,000,000,000) was likewise approved by the vote of the majority of the Board of Directors at a 
special meeting held on February 27, 2007. 
 
On February 22, 2019, the Group’s management informed its shareholders the plan to sell its 
portfolio of condominium units, as management wants to focus on its resort business in key 
tourist destinations. On August 8, 2019, the Parent Company sold several condominium units and 
the proceeds from sale of the condominium units amounted to ₱10,217,203. The Group has 
recognized gain from such sale amounted to ₱8,094,980. The management still plans to sell the 
remaining units and actively marketing such to sell, thus, classified as non-current asset held-for-
sale at year end. 
 
Business of Issuer and Significant Subsidiaries: 
 
Principal products and services and their markets 
 
The principal products and services of FHI came from the rental of 41 native cottage-styled rooms 
and the 11-room villas while FPGI came from rental of 24 villa, as well as revenues derived from 
the food and beverage products served in its beachfront restaurants. Other revenues also came from 
aqua sports rental, merchandise sales from the souvenir shop, guests transfer services, and massage 
services. The registrant, on the other hand, owns several condominium units for lease and for sale. 
 
Foreign sales 
 
FHI sales derived entirely from domestic transactions.  For fiscal year 2020, the revenues were 
sourced from foreign customers (95%) and local tourists (5%).  FBBR’s foreign hotel guests came 
from Asian countries (61%), European countries (18%), American countries (8%), Australia & 
Oceana countries (6%), Middle East (1%), African countries (1%). 

FPGI sales derived from domestic transactions.  For fiscal year 2020, the revenues were sourced 
from foreign guests of (35%) and local tourists (65%).   FPGI foreign hotel guests came from Asia 
(27%) and European (8%). 
 
Distribution methods  
 
FHI and FPGI has a dedicated marketing team that is tasked to sell its products and services to 
customers trhough social media platforms as well as through several local and foreign travel 
agents.   
 
Competition 
 
We had good inquiries on wedding segments which Fridays Boracay positions as one of the best 
wedding and proposals venue from the entire stretch of white beach. As of September 3, 2019, 
there are about 378 resorts with an approximate 14,021 rooms available in Boracay Island as 
reported by the Department of Tourism (DOT) Malay, Aklan. Direct competitors of FBBR’s in 
term of DOT’s classification are also increasing due to newly opened & renovated resorts which 
the whole island is over supply of rooms but limited of demand of tourist due to the travel 
restrictions and requirements implemented by the local government to ensure the safety and health 
of tourists as well as its local residents due to the pandemic. This implementation caused a 
lowering of the rates in the island.  
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Direct competitors of FBBR’s in term of DoT’s classification of resorts similar to market class and 
similar room capacity in the same general location and offering the same range of room rates are 
the following:  Shangrila Resort and Spa, The Lind, Discovery Shores, Hennan Prime Beach 
Resort, Ambassador in Paradise and Two Seasons Boracay Resort.  FHI has 30 years of experience 
and reputation as a pioneer resort in Boracay. Despite the proximity of the other direct competitors, 
FBBR is still considered the preferred destination of its target market.  Friday’s advantage is its 
strategic location. It has the finest white sand and widest beachfront in the island. 
 
There are about 211 resorts with an approximate 4,301 rooms available in Puerto Galera as of 
August 2019 as reported by Tourism Office Puerto Galera. Direct competitors are Infinity Resort, 
Atlantis Dive Resort, Edge Water, Lalaguna Resort, Coco Beach Resort and Marco Vincent. 
FPGBR is still the preferred resort since it seats on the UNESCO Heritage Site as one the best dive 
site and with secluded beach area. Most guests preferred us from honeymooners, family get away, 
corporate team building and diving. In this pandemic situation, limited demand of tourists is 
expected because of additional cost added on guests expenses due to the travel restrictions and 
requirements, PCR test for example, and available trips to Puerto Galera are only through Water 
Taxi (₱10,000 per way minimum 8 pax). 
 
In 2017 FHI received the following accolades: a) Trip Advisor's 2017 Travelers' Choice Award 
Winner Top 25 Hotels for Romance - Philippines; and b) Agoda Gold Circle Award Winner for 
2017. Presently FPGI received a very good rating of 8 out of 10 and for Trip Advisor with a very 
good rating of 4 out 5 among 20 resorts in Puerto Galera. 
 
Sources and availability of raw materials 
 
The Registrant and its subsidiaries are not dependent on raw materials or their suppliers.   
 
Customer dependence 
 
The Company’s sources of income are derived primarily from the hospitality and leisure business 
segment and income from lease and sale of condominium units.  The group has never been   
dependent to a single customer that accounted for 20% of its business for the period. 
 
Transaction with and/or dependence on related parties 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are not dependent on any related party transactions. The 
Registrant and FHI have existing management contracts with Anglo Asian Strategic Management, 
Inc. (“AASMI”).   There are also monitoring agreements between the Parent Company and the two 
subsidiaries namely FHI and FPGI.  BHI transactions with related parties are accounted for at 
arm’s - length prices or on terms similar to those offered to non-related entities in an economically 
comparable market. Please refer also to Note 20 (“Related Party Transactions”) of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the 2020 Audited Financial Statements for the Group’s 
related party disclosures. 
 
Licenses, trademarks, franchises 
 
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries do not hold patents, trademarks, copyrights, licenses, 
franchises, concessions and royalty agreements. 
 
Government approval of principal products and services 
 
FHI received DOT accreditation dated November 15, 2018.  The accreditation is based on 
standards set by this government agency in classifying hotels and resorts. 
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Effect of existing or probable government regulations 
 
The Group secures various government approvals as part of the normal course of its business 
operations. The Company and its subsidiaries generally meet all the government regulations such 
as environment, health and safety requirements. 
 
Research and development 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries have not spent any amount during the last three fiscal years on 
research and development activities.  
  
Compliance with environmental laws 
 
The Group incurred minimal cost and was affected as a result of compliance to the environmental 
laws when Boracay, Malay, Aklan was closed for tourism as ordered by the National Government 
for six (6) months for rehabilitation of the island. Development projects that are classified by law 
as environmentally critical or projects within statutorily defined environmentally critical areas are 
required to obtain an Environmental Compliance Certificate (“ECC”) prior to commencement like 
the case of FPGI.  The issuance of an ECC is a government certification that the proposed project 
or undertaking will not cause a significant negative environmental impact; that the proponent shall 
ensure that all commitments, appropriate mitigating/enhancement measures and monitoring 
requirements especially those contained in the EMMOP in the IEE checklist, its modification and 
additional information as approved by the EMB-R4B during the IEE checklist review shall be 
instituted and strictly implemented through the project implementation. A Pollution Control 
Officer (“PCO”) must be appointed to handle environmental impact management related aspects of 
the project as specified in the Impact Management Plan (IMP) and Environmental Monitoring 
Fund.   The proponent shall submit an Abandonment Plan to the EMB-R4B at least one year prior 
to the project’s abandonment. The plan shall include rehabilitation/clean-up, remediation of areas 
affected by the project and proposed alternative projects in the area.  The project operation shall 
conform to the applicable provisions of R.A. 6969 (Toxic Substances, Hazardous Waste Control 
Act of 1990), R.A. 8749 (Philippine Clear Air Act of 1999) R.A. 9003 (Ecological Solid Waste 
Management Act of 2000), and R.A. 9275 (Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004). On December 3, 
2012 the Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Environmental Management Bureau, 
Regional Office No. IV-B MIMAROPA, issued the Environmental Compliance Certificate ECC to 
the company.    
 
Number of employees 
 
BHI has eight (9) employees at present; five (5) are officers and four (4) are non-managerial 
positions.  Employees of the Group are not subject to collective bargaining agreement.  There is no 
known labor union organized in BHI and its subsidiaries.  FHI and FPGI have an average of 76 
employees, 12% of which hold senior managerial positions and the remaining are distributed as 
follows:  31% are assigned in the room’s division, 25% are assigned in the food and beverage 
division, and 32% are involved in the administrative functions. The Group do not foresee any 
major change of the current average 85 employees’ count for the ensuing twelve (12) months. 
 
Major risks 
 
The following is a summary of risk factors which may affect the  business’ financial condition and 
results of operations of the Group.  Please also refer to other information set forth in this report, 
including the Audited Financial Statements and the Related Notes and “Management Discussion 
and Analysis  of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. 
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• FHI and FPGI are subject to significant competitors in the business. Each of the 
Company’s primary operating  business is subject to intense rivalry. They compete 
with other resorts to attract hotel customers. At present, FHI remains the preferred 
upscale resort destination in Boracay. Some competitors may have substantially greater 
financial and other resources than BHI’s subsidiaries, which may allow them to 
undertake more aggressive marketing and to react more swiftly and effectively to 
changes in the markets and consumers preferences. This may lead to the Company’s 
primary business segment  to decline its sales and profitability. 

• Any decline in tourist  arrivals could potentially limit the growth of the group’s hotel  
business. FHI, known for its world-class accommodations and services as well as 
premium location, is expected to perform strongly notwithstanding a tourism 
slowdown as evidenced by its  above average performance in spite of a  low tourists 
arrival for the past years. 

• The  hospitality and leisure segment is a very labor-intensive industry and any 
significant increase in the employees turnover rate could lead to an increase in 
recruiting and training costs and  decline in employees’ effectiveness. This risk will be 
heightened by the growing labor shortage of qualified and  skilled employees.  

• Materials used in food production demand quality and specialty. The materials are 
subject to price volatility caused by changes in supply and demand, weather 
conditions, fuel costs, transportation, production, agricultural uncertainty, and 
government controls. Purchasing, therefore, should be kept posted about supply 
sufficiency in the market and should explore for new potential sources. 

• The Company and its subsidiaries  are vulnerable to various business and political risks 
that may weakened sales and earnings. This risk is inherent to all businesses operating 
in the  Philippines. 

• Operations of the Group may be exposed by capital availability and investors’ 
confidence. The timing and amount of the Company’s working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements may vary significantly depending on numerous factors.  
Equity capital  in the future, as and when needed, may be restricted, and could prevent  
the immediate  implementation of its business strategy. 

• The Company and its subsidiaries’ assets are always exposed to damages or 
impairment through fire,  natural and/or man-made disasters and other accidents that 
may materially disrupt operations and ultimately resulting in business losses. Safety  
precautionary measures have been undertaken and installed within the operating 
system. 

• Other risks that the Company and its subsidiaries may be exposed to are as follows: 
a. Sudden closure of island where the properties are located due to 

environmental and other governmental issues;   
b. changes in domestic and international interest rates; 
c. changes in materials, labor, power rates and other costs;  
d. multiple legal proceedings over the ownership and possession of a parcel of 

land located at Barangay, Balabag, Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan;  
e. changes in laws and regulations that apply to the Philippine tourism 

business; 
f. new government pronouncements to close resorts for the rehabilitation of 

the tourist destination area; 
g. deteriorating peace and order situation in the country; and 
h. travel restrictions - and their impact on the travel industry. 

 
Please refer also to Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the discussion of 
the Group’s Financial Risk Management Objectives and Capital Management. 
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To further mitigate the above mentioned risks the Registrant and its subsidiaries shall continue to 
adopt appropriate risk management tools as well as conservative finance and operational controls 
and policies to manage the various business risks the Group possibly may encounter. 
 
 
Item 2 – Properties 
 
On consolidated basis, total property and equipment of the Registrant and subsidiaries were valued 
at P=1,037.33 million and P=1,069.12 million as of May 31, 2020 and May 31, 2019, respectively.  
The details are as follows: 
 

           May 31, 2020           May 31, 2019 
Land P=729,684,737 P=729,684,737 
Condominium Units and Improvements 14,202,350 14,202,350 
Building and Building Equipment 424,566,756 424,089,325 
Office Equipment 2,100,077 2,044,477 
Transportation Equipment 11,088,324 11,088,324 
Furniture and Fixtures 34,380,200                        33,787,409 
Machinery and Equipment 18,973,757 15,173,757 
Operating Equipment 5,946,671 5,946,671 
Computer Equipment and Software 2,421,293 1,139,510 
Construction in Progress 42,046,973 39,867,749 
Ending Balances 1,285,411,138 1,277,024,309 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment  248,079,967 207,907,742 
Net Book Values P=1,037,331,171 P=1,069,116,567 

 
 
Location of principal properties of the Registrant and its subsidiaries 
Company Description  Location/Address Condition 
Boulevard 
Holdings, Inc. 

Land Barangay Sapang, Ternate 
Cavite 

For site of the 
proposed third 
Friday’s Resort and 
for other 
developments 

 Land Sto. Nino Puerto Galera, 
Oriental Mindoro 

For additional hotel 
site project 

 Condominium 
units 

Peak Tower Condominium, 
1704 Leviste Street, Salcedo 
Village, Makati City 
 
Asian Mansion II 
Condominium units, Nieva 
corner dela Rosa Streets, 
Legaspi Village, Makati City  

 
LPL Greenhills Condominium 
unit, 17 Eisenhower Street, 
Greenhills, San Juan, Metro 
Manila 

 
Burgundy Corporate Towers 
Condominium units, Senator 
Gil Puyat Avenue, Makati City. 

Leasable unit 
 
 
 
 
Leasable/Saleable 
units 
 
 
 
 
Leasable/Saleable unit 
 
 
 
 
Leasable/Saleable 
units 
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Friday’s 
Holdings, Inc. 

Land, hotel 
buildings, building 
equipment, 
machinery and 
equipment, and 
operating 
equipment   

Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan, 
Philippines 

In use for operations 

 Land Moal Boal, Cebu Investment for future 
additional hotel site 
project 

Friday’s Puerto, 
Galera, Inc. 

Land, hotel 
buildings, building 
equipment, 
machinery and 
equipment, and 
operating 
equipment  

Sto. Nino, Puerto Galera, 
Oriental Mindoro, Philippines   

In use for operations. 

The Group has the complete ownership of the properties mentioned above.  
 
 
Parcels of Land Leased by the subsidiaries of the registrant  
 
Below is the list of leased properties by FHI and FPGI and the status of the lease contracts as of 
May 31, 2020: 
 

Location Expiration of 
Lease 

Term of 
Renewal 

Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan 
Lot 624-B with an area of 500 sq. m. a portion of an 
undivided interest in a parcel of land with an area of 1,000. 
Sq. m. 

 
April 30, 2020 

 
Option of both 
parties 

Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan 
Lot 616 covered by TD No. 1408 with an area of 584.83 
sqm.(1) 

February 14, 
1997   

Option of both 
parties 

1704 Peak Tower, 107 L.P. Leviste Street, Salcedo Village, 
Makati City (2) 

July 1, 2023 Option of both 
parties 

(1)The renewal contract has not been executed by reason of the death of the lessor’s 
administrator.  FHI makes separate payments to the heirs in proportion to their inheritance 
shares. The parties are still complying with the terms and conditions of the expired 
agreement. Since its execution, there has been no violation of the terms and conditions of 
the agreement.   

         (2)The unit is leased by both FHI and FPGI accounting and sales & marketing team. 

  
There are no other mortgage, lien or encumbrance or limitation on ownership or usage over these 
properties.   
 
Rent expense presented under general, administrative and selling amounted to P=2.83 million, P=2.78 
million as of May 31, 2020 and May 31, 2019 respectively. 

 
The Registrant continues to pursue new opportunities for additional sites for future development of 
Friday’s brand that will offer attractive potential tourist destinations to replicate existing Friday’s 
Boracay Beach Resort and Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort. 
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Item 3 – Legal Proceedings Affecting The Registrant or Its Subsidiaries 
 

The Group is a party to certain legal proceedings which relate to matters arising out of the 
ordinary course of the business. Based on the current status of such proceedings and the 
information currently available, the management does not believe that the outcome of such 
proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the group’s business financial condition or 
results of operations.  
 

As of May 31, 2020 a parcel of land described as Lot No. 617-pt with Road Lot located at 
Station 1, Brgy. Balabag, Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan and covered by ARP/TD Nos. 3676 and 
3677 with PIN Nos. 038-12-003-004-136 and 038-12-003-004-137 is the subject of multiple on-
going litigation in:  
 
1.  FRIDAY’S HOLDINGS, INC. VS. MILA YAP, ET AL., CIVIL CASE NO. 07-762, RTC  

BRANCH 132:  RE: PETITION FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF. 
 

Civil Case No. 07-762, filed on August 23, 2007, is an action for Declaratory Relief 
filed by FHI against the Spouses Mila Yap-Sumndad and Daligdig Sumndad, Libertad Yap-
Talapian, Jose S. Yap, Aniceto S. Yap, and Amable S. Yap.  It is docketed as Civil Case No. 
07-762 and entitled “Friday’s Holdings, Inc. v. Mila Yap-Sumndad.”  This case was raffled to 
Branch 132 of the RTC of Makati City.  Later, the case was re-raffled to Branch 146 of the 
same court. 

 
It involves, among others, the lease of sixty percent (60%) portion (the “Disputed 

Portion”) of the property in Boracay Island (the “Boracay Property”) where Friday’s Resort 
and Restaurant owned and operated by FHI, is presently located.  The Disputed Portion was 
formerly owned by the respondents Sumndad Spouses. 

 
Accordingly, Civil Case Nos. 07-762 was consolidated to Civil Case No. 14-181, 

which is FHI’s case for Indirect Contempt against Mila Yap-Sumndad, Datu Yap-Sumndad, 
Joel Gelito, Erlinda T. Casimera, Atty. Ray Jean Tamayo, Atty. Goddaymnit Daymnit, John 
Doe and Joe Doe, and assigned to Branch 147 but then subsequently re-raffled to Branch 146 
of RTC of Makati.  

 
The case reached the Court of Appeals (as CA-GR No. 134413) and subsequently the 

Supreme Court (as GR No. 221231).  
 
As of present time, proceedings have been suspended to give way to the resolution of 

the Petition for Annulment of Judgment filed by Mila Yap-Sumndad before the CA and 
presently being heard before the RTC of Makati. 
 

2.  FHI VS. MILA YAP-SUMNDAD, ET AL.; CIVIL CASE NO. 14-181 RTC BRANCH 
146, MAKATI.  RE: PETITION FOR INDIRECT CONTEMPT.  

 
Civil Case No. 14-181, filed on February 17, 2014, is FHI’s case for Indirect 

Contempt against Mila Yap-Sumndad, Datu Yap-Sumndad, Joel Gelito, Erlinda T. Casimera, 
Atty. Ray Jean Tamayo, Atty. Goddaymnit Daymnit, John Doe and Joe Doe as a result of the 
February 15,  2014 forcible take-over by her son, Datu Yap-Sumndad, together with 200 
armed men, more or less, of the Disputed Portion.  

 
The acts complained of are contumacious and constitute interference with the lawful 

orders of Branch 132 of the RTC of Makati in that Mila Yap-Sumndad, Datu Yap-Sumndad, 
Joel Gelito, Erlinda T. Casimero, Atty. Ray Jean Tamayo, Atty. Goddaymnit Daymnit, John 
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Doe and Joe Doe deliberately and willfully attempted to frustrate and defeat the 
implementation and observance of the Decision dated July 22, 2009 and the Order dated 
March 3, 2014, both recognizing the rights of FHI over the Disputed Portion following the 
execution of the Deed of Absolute Sale dated March  3, 2014 after full payment of the 
purchase price.  

  
As mentioned in item No. 1, this case is consolidated with Civil Case No. 07-762 and the 
proceedings has been suspended pending the outcome of the case for annulment of judgment. 

 
3.  MILA YAP SUMNDAD VS. FRIDAY'S HOLDINGS, INC., ATTY. DALIGDIG A. 

SUMNDAD AND HON. ROMMEL O. BAYBAY, C.A. G.R. NO. 134413, COURT OF 
APPEALS  

 
On 14 March 2014, Mila Yap-Sumndad filed an action for Annulment of Judgment 

with application for Temporary Restraining Order and Writ of Preliminary Injunction and 
Damages praying, among others, that the Decision based on Compromise Agreement issued 
by Judge Baybay in Civil Case No. 07-762 (Item I, hereof) be declared null and void due to 
extrinsic fraud. Her action is essentially based on her allegation that she did not sign the 
Conditional Deed of Sale which was the basis of the aforesaid Decision.  

 
FHI and Atty. Daligdig Sumndad both filed separate Answers to the Petition. 
 
On 04 August 2014, the CA issued a 60-day Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) in 

favor of petitioner and eventually issued a preliminary injunction, preventing the Branch 
Sheriff from satisfying the Writ of Execution ordering the execution of a Deed of Sale over the 
Property in favor of FHI.  

 
The CA ordered to remand the case to the RTC of Makati for the conduct of hearings 

for the purpose of receiving evidence from the parties. FHI’s motion for reconsideration was 
denied by the CA. 

 
FHI elevated the case to the Supreme Court via Petition for Certiorari under Rule 65 

of the Rules of Court, which petition was denied with finality on 11 May 2018. 
 
Meanwhile, proceedings to receive evidence from both parties are underway. FHI has 

presented three (3) witnesses to date to prove that the claim of fraud advanced by Mila Yap-
Sumndad is false and without basis. FHI is set to present its fourth  and final witness and 
thereafter shall formally offer its evidence. 

 
4.  FHI VS. MILA YAP, ET AL.; CRIMINAL CASE NPS VI-01-INV-14C-00143-00145 

OCP.   
 

On March  28, 2014, FHI filed a complaint for Usurpation of Real Rights in Property, 
Grave Threats and Coercion with the Office of the Provincial Prosecutor of Aklan against 
Mila Yap-Sumndad, Datu Yap-Sumndad, Joel Gelito, Atty. Ray Jean Tamayo, Atty. John 
Doe and seven (7) John Does. These criminal complaints were instituted by FHI as a result of 
the February 15, 2014 forcible take-over of the Disputed Portion by Mila Yap-Sumndad, her 
son Datu Yap-Sumndad and others agents acting for and on her behalf.  

 
With the exception of still unidentified conspirators, accused Mila Yap-Sumndad, 

Joel Gelito, and Atty. Ray Jean Tamayo have been arraigned and are currently facing trial for. 
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On 30 August 2016, the Provincial Prosecution Office of Kalibo, Aklan issued a 
resolution charging Mila, et al. with the crime of grave coercion, with the corresponding 
information being filed with the respondents before the MTCC, Buruanga-Malay. Docketed as 
Criminal Case No. 1734-M. Accused Mila Yap-Sumndad, Joel Gelito, and Atty. Ray Jean 
Tamayo have been arraigned and are currently facing trial. The case is now scheduled for the 
presentation of the accused’s evidence on 18 September 2019. 
 

5.  FHI VS. SPS. MILA YAP SUMNDAD AND ATTY. DALIGDIG SUMNDAD, ET AL., 
CIVIL   CASE NO. 311-M, FOR FORCIBLE ENTRY, MUNICIPAL CIRCUIT TRIAL 
COURT OF BURUANGA-MALAY, AKLAN. 

 
This involves FHI’s Complaint for Forcible Entry with Urgent Application for 

Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) and/or Writ of Preliminary Prohibitory/Mandatory 
Injunction against the Spouses Sumndad, Datu Yap, Joel Gelito and John Does for their 
unlawful eviction of FHI from the 60% portion of the Yap family property that BHI purchased 
(some 1,538.4 sq.m. area), through force, intimidation strategy and threats. 

 
This court rendered a decision on April 24, 2015 in Friday’s favor awarding the latter 

indemnification of the resulting damage it sustained in the amount of P=74,480,000 resulting 
from Mila Yap and group’s forcible entry into Friday’s property. 

 
Defendants Sumndad, et al., appealed the case to the Regional Trial Court of Aklan. 
 
Yap filed an appeal to the Court of Appeals, but the court dismissed the same outright 

for technicalities. In January 2018, Mila Yap filed a Petition For Review on Certiorari with 
the Supreme Court, seeking for the issuance of a TRO/injunction to enjoin the RTC from 
further acting on the case and the reversal of the resolutions rendered by the Court of Appeals. 

 
Meanwhile, prior to the filing of the said petition with the Supreme Court, the RTC 

Sheriff enforced part of the decision and several properties of the defendants were sold in 
public auctions held last March 2018 in favor of FHI. 

 
Finally, the Petition of Mila Yap before the Supreme Court was denied and and the 

CA’s decision in favor of FHI was Affirmed by the high court. 
 
6.  MILA YAP VS. JMP ET.AL., CRIMINAL CASE NO. NPS DOCKET SV 05-INV 1468, 

OFFICE OF THE CITY PROSECUTOR, MAKATI CITY. 
 

Filed on May 2, 2014. This is a case for falsification of documents (Supplement to 
Compromise Agreement and Conditional Deed of Sale) filed with the Prosecutor’s Office of 
Makati City against Jose M. Panlilio.  Since, as the facts clearly show, it was a trump up case, 
it was dismissed on March 26, 2015. Mila Yap’s motion for reconsideration was also 
dismissed forcing her to make an appeal to the Department of Justice. This case, being a 
fabricated or concocted case, the DOJ should likewise dismiss it. Pending resolution by the 
DOJ. 

 
7.  MILA YAP-SUMNDAD VS. JMP ET.AL., CRIMINAL CASE NO. XV-07-INV 14E-

02779, OFFICE OF THE CITY PROSECUTOR, MANILA. 
 

Filing the case on May 9, 2014, complainant Mila Yap questions the genuineness, 
authenticity and due execution of the Special Power of Attorney she had executed in favor of 
her husband authorizing him to sell their property to Fridays Holdings, Inc. and enter into a 
compromise with respect to this property. The Manila Prosecutor’s Office ruled that even with 
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the use of the naked eye, her signature on the SPA would show that it is similar to her 
signature in documents the genuineness of which she does not dispute and therefore dismissed 
the complaint on May 29, 2015.  The dismissal has never been appealed either via Motion For 
Reconsideration or Petition For Review with the Department of Justice, per record as of 
March 14, 2016 of the law Firm of Chavez Miranda Aseoche representing Mr. Jose M. 
Panlilio in the case.  With the passage of a considerable length of time without such appeal 
from the case dismissal in May 2015, the dismissal should have become final. 

 
8.  FRIDAYS HOLDINGS, INC., vs. LONAVLA PROPERTIES, ET. AL., G.R. No. 

243764. 
 

Lonavla filed a Petition For Certiorari under Rule 65 of the Rules of Court with the 
Court of Appeals docketed as CA-G.R. SP No. 147612 entitled Lonavla Properties, Inc. vs. 
Mila Yap-Sumndad, to reverse the dismissal of its case by the RTC Br. 100, Quezon City 
seeking to foreclose FHI’s property but the court rejected on the strength of FHI’s third party 
claim of ownership over the property.  

 
On 29 March 2017, the Court of Appeals dismissed the aforesaid Petition For 

Certiorari filed by Lonavla, ordering that the case to be remanded to the RTC for resolution of 
the third party claim of FHI before proceeding with the execution of judgment. 

 
Although the CA ruled in favor of Fridays, FHI moved for partial reconsideration of 

its disposition to argue that a remand is no longer necessary. Lonavla also filed its own 
Motion For Reconsideration to assail the dismissal of its petition. Both motions by Lonavla 
and FHI were denied. 

 
FHI has filed a Petition For Review on Certiorari with the SC after the CA denied its 

motion for reconsideration of its resolution remanding the case to RTC Branch 100 instead of 
ordering its dismissal.  

 
Mr. Jose Marcel Panlilio's involvement in all of the foregoing cases is limited to his 

capacity as senior officer and director. He has not been sued in his personal capacity or for an 
offense involving moral turpitude. 

 
Other than legal cases mentioned above, the group is not engaged in any material litigation 

either as plaintiff or defendant and the directors do not have knowledge of any material 
proceedings pending or threatened against BHI and its subsidiaries, or of any facts likely to give 
rise to any proceeding which might materially or adversely affect the position or business of the 
Group except  those mentioned above.  

 
Except those mentioned legal cases above, none of the Directors or Executive Officers is 

involved in any material pending legal proceedings in any court or administrative agency of the 
government. 

a.  None of them has been involved in any bankruptcy petition 
 
b.  None of them has been convicted by final judgment in a criminal proceeding 

or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding, both domestic and foreign. 
 
c.  None of them has been subject to any order, judgment or decree of any court 

of competent jurisdiction (domestic or foreign) permanently or temporarily 
enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement in any 
type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities. 
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d.  None of them has been found by a domestic or foreign court of competent 
jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Commission or comparable foreign body, 
or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self 
regulatory organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or 
regulation. 

 
 
Item 4 – Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 
The following matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the September 10, 2020 
ASM: 
 

1. Approval of the minutes of the annual meeting of the stockholders held on April 5, 2019; 
2. Adoption of the audited financial statements as contained in the annual report for the fiscal 

year ended May 31, 2019; 
3. Ratification and confirmation of all acts of the board of directors and management 

subsequent to the annual meeting of the stockholders held on April 5, 2019 to September 
10, 2020;  

4. Election of directors for the ensuing year 2020; and 
5. Appointment of Alas Oplas & Co., CPAs as the External Auditors of the Corporation for 

Fiscal Year Ending May 31, 2020;  
 
 
 

PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 
Item 5 – Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholders Matters 
 
5.1  Market Information  
 
BHI’s common shares are traded on the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”). 
 
The high and low stock prices of BHI’s common shares for each fiscal quarter within the past two 
years and first and second quarters of FY2021 were as follows: 
 

Period Fiscal Year  
May 31, 2021 

High           Low 

Fiscal Year 
May 31, 2020 

High           Low 

Fiscal Year 
May 31, 2019 

High           Low 
1st Quarter  - June to August P=.038 P=.023 P=.069 P=.054 P=.068 P=.052 
2nd Quarter - September to November      .040    .025   .061  .045   .065  .055 
3rd Quarter - December to February    .056 .038 .072 .052 
4th Quarter - March to May   .039  .024 .081  .058 

      The market capitalization of BHI as of May 31, 2020, based on the closing price of P=0.026 per share, was   
       approximately P=312,000,000.   
 
 
5.2  Stockholders       
 
There were 388 stockholders of record as of May 31, 2020 on the Register of Shareholders but the 
Company was not able to identify the actual number of beneficial owners who are registered either 
under the name of the member companies of the PSE or PCD Nominee Corporation. Currently, 
there are 12,000,000,000 common shares issued and subscribed. 
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The list of top 20 stockholders of BHI as of May 31, 2020 is stated hereunder:  
 

 
    Title of Number of  Percentage 

 
Stockholders Nationality Shares Shares Ownership 

1 PCD Nominee Corp.-Filipino Filipino Common  6,714,782,911 55.96% 
2 JP Guilds, Inc. Filipino Common  4,696,564,776 39.14% 
3 PCD Nominee Corp.- Non-Filipino Non-Filipino Common  466,538,310 3.89% 
4 David L. Kho Filipino Common  54,590,000 0.45% 
5 Li Chih-Hui Taiwanese Common  20,000,000 0.17% 
6 Li Chih-Hui Filipino Common  10,000,000 0.08% 
7 Paulino C. Petralba Filipino Common  5,000,000 0.04% 
8 Katrina E. Panlilio Filipino Common  5,000,000 0.04% 
9 Jose Marcel E. Panlilio Filipino Common  3,502,000 0.03% 

10 
Business Assistance Credit 
Corporation  

 
Filipino Common  

 
2,800,000 

 
0.02% 

11 Juan Go Santillan Filipino Common  2,500,000 0.02% 
12 Michael Lancelot F. Panlilio Filipino Common  2,460,000 0.02% 
13 Christopher M. Gotanco Filipino Common  1,200,010 0.01% 
14 Ernesto B. Lim Filipino Common  1,200,000 0.01% 
15 Mary Tan Filipino Common  700,000 0.006% 

16 Miguel D. Marana or Cenon, 
Bienvenido D Marana Filipino Common 600,000 0.005% 

17 Simplicio  L. Yap,  Jr. Filipino Common  500,000 0.004% 
18 People's Financing Co. Filipino Common  500,000 0.004% 
19 Teresita Go&/or Saturnina Go Filipino Common  370,000 0.003% 
20 Erlinda Merkt &/or Heinrich Merkt Filipino Common  300,000 0.003% 

 
Sub Total    Common  11,989,108,007 99.91% 

 
Others   Common  10,891,993 0.09% 

 
Total   Common  12,000,000,000 100.00% 

 
 
5.3   Dividends in the Two Most Recent Years 
 
The declaration of dividends depends upon the Company’s earnings, cash flow and financial 
condition, among other factors.  The Company may declare dividends out of its unrestricted 
retained earnings only. Unrestricted retained earnings represent the net accumulated earnings of the 
Company, with its capital unimpaired which are not appropriated for any other purpose.  The 
Company may pay dividends in cash, distribute property, or issue shares of stock.  Dividends shall 
be declared only from the surplus profits and shall be payable at such time and in such manner and 
in such amounts as the Board of Directors shall determine.  No dividends shall be declared which 
would impair the capital of the Registrant.  There has been no declaration of dividends in the two 
most recent years. 
 
As of fiscal year ended May 31, 2020 there are no restrictions imposed by the Company on the 
declaration of cash or property dividends. 
 

 
5.4    Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities, Including Recent Issuance of 

Securities Constituting an Exempt Transaction 
  
For the past three  (3) years the Registrant has not sold securities, which are not registered under 
the Code.  There were 500,000,000 securities issued in January 2007 in exchange for property-for-
shares swap arrangement listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange on June 15, 2009.  There were 
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6,000,000,000 new securities issued on February 9, 2010 in exchange for properties-for-shares 
swap arrangement.  The six (6) billion shares were listed at the PSE on October 20, 2010.   

 
On May 23, 2012 the Board of the PSE, in its regular meeting, approved the application of BHI to 
list additional 466,853,408 common shares with a par value of P=0.10 per share to cover its private 
placement transactions with JP Guilds, Inc. The 466,853,408 common shares were issued at P=
0.2142 per share, with a total transaction value of P=100 million. Subsequently, on June 1, 2012, the 
additional common shares were listed at PSE. 
 
On February 13, 2013 the Board of the PSE, in its regular meeting, approved the application of 
BHI to list additional 466,853,408 common shares (second tranche) with a par value of  P=0.10 per 
share to cover its private placement transactions with JP Guilds, Inc.   The 466,853,408 common 
shares were issued at P=0.2142 per share, with a total transaction value of P=100 million.   
Subsequently, on April 10, 2013, the additional common shares were listed at PSE. 
 
On May 31, 2013, JP Guilds, Inc. subscribed 933,333,333 common shares of the Corporation 
amounting to P=140 million at the subscription price of P=.15/share representing the first tranche of 
the subscription agreement. The subscribed shares were fully paid on August 28, 2015. 
  
BHI filed a listing application on June 25, 2013 to list additional 466,853,408 common shares 
(third tranche) with a par value of  P=0.10 per share to cover its private placement transactions with 
JP Guilds, Inc. The 466,853,408 common shares were issued at P=0.2142 per share, with a total 
transaction value of P=100 million. The listing application was approved by the Board of Directors 
of the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. in its regular meeting on January 22, 2014.   
 
BHI filed a listing application on September 23, 2015 to list additional 933,333,333 common 
shares (first tranche) with a par value of P=0.10 per share to cover its private placement transactions 
with JP Guilds, Inc. The said common shares were issued at P=0.15 per share, with a total 
transaction value of P=140 million. The listing application was approved by the Board of Directors 
of  the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. in its regular meeting on June 13, 2018. 
  
BHI filed a listing application to list additional 1,136,106,443 common shares (fourth and fifth 
tranches) with a par value of P=0.10 per share to cover its private placement transactions with JP 
Guilds, Inc. The said common shares were issued at P=0.15 per share, with a total transaction value 
of P=170.416 million. BHI submitted all the requirements to PSE in compliance to PSE listing 
application on October 16, 2018. 
 
During the fiscal period ended May 31, 2014 BHI filed several Notices of Exemption with the SEC 
for the issuance of the total 2,166,106,443 common shares in four tranches which resulted in the 
full subscription of BHI authorized capital stock of 12 Billion common shares. These new 
subscriptions were under the following provisions of the SRC:  
 
Section 10.1(i) Subscription for shares of the capital stock of the corporation xx in pursuance of an 
increase in its authorized capital stock under the Corporation Code, when no expense is incurred, 
or no commission, or compensation or remuneration is paid or given in connection with the sale or 
disposition such securities, and only when the purpose for soliciting, giving or taking of such 
subscription is to comply with the requirements of such law as to the percentage of the capital 
stock of a corporation which should be subscribed before xxx its authorized capital stock 
increased. 
 
Section 10.1(e) the sale of capital stock of a corporation to its own stockholders exclusively, where 
no commission or other remuneration is paid given directly or indirectly in connection with the 
sale of such capital stock. 
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As of May 31, 2020 BHI’s authorized capital stock of 12,000,000,000 common shares with the par 
value of P=0.10 each has been fully subscribed and fully paid by its subscriber. 
 
Item 6 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 
 
The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of BHI 
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes as at 
and for the years ended May 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 included elsewhere in this Annual Report.  
This discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect Registrant’s current views with 
respect to future events and its future financial performance. These statements involve risks and 
uncertainties and the Registrant’s actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in 
these forward-looking statements. 
 
Review of Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2020 Compared with Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2019 
 
Overview     
 
BHI main segment is hotels, leisure and tourism. This segment is provided mainly by Friday’s 
Holdings, Inc., owner and operator of Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort and Friday’s Puerto 
Galera, Inc., owner and operator of Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort. The total consolidated 
sales is P=75.47 million for the current year (2019: P=112.76 million). The management has 
continued to take actions that will further develop this segment: a) the impending business 
development of Friday’s Puerto Galera at Boquete Island, Puerto Galera, Mindoro, which started 
its soft opening last December 15, 2017 and of Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort; b) the re-
possession of the property at Boracay, Aklan; and c) the latest acquisition of a parcel of land, 
building, and furniture and fixtures at Boracay Island for further development that will further 
enhance future sales growth. In August 2011, BHI entered to an agreement to acquire shares of 
Cala Paniman, Inc. (“CALA”) and put up to P=100 million worth of investment. As of May 31, 
2019, the Group’s management deemed that its investment to CALA is already impaired and 
recognized impairment loss. Net loss increased to P=72.43 million for the current period from P=
34.14 million in 2019 mainly due to lower sales received for the current year by P=37.29 million 
due to the temporary closures of both resorts caused by the pandemic and the eruption of Taal 
Volcano.  
 
The following are the highlights of the performance of the Registrant and its subsidiaries. 
 
Consolidated Statements of 
Income and Operational Highlights 
Years Ended May 31, 2020 and 2019 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 

 
 
 

    
   May 31, 2020 

   
   May 31, 2019 % Change 

    Revenues P=75.470 P=112.762        (33%) 
Cost and Expenses (155.644) (161.854)      (4%) 
Other  Income (charges) - net 8.289 16.224 (49%) 
Loss Before Income  (71.688) (32.868)       218% 
Provision for Income Tax (.740) (1.268)      (42%) 
Net Loss (P=72.428) (P=34.136) 212% 
Attributable to  

 
     Equity holders of the Parent (P=38.952) (P=8.863) 439% 

   Non-controlling interests            (33.475)            (25.273) 32% 
  (P=72.428) (P=34.136) 212% 



   17-A 05/31/2020                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                

   

23 

 
Material changes (+ / - 5% or more) in the financial statements 
 
Statements of Income Items – 2020 versus 2019 
• 33% decrease in rooms revenues 

28% decrease in food and beverages revenues 
57% decrease in other revenues 
33 % decrease in total revenues 
Decrease in room revenues, food and beverages, and other revenues is due to lower sales for 
the current year compared to same period last year. Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort and 
Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort were temporary closed starting March 17, 2020 and 
March 14, 2020 respectively, because of the Enhanced Community Quarantine prescribed by 
the IATF affected by the Covid19 pandemic.  
 

• 10% decrease in cost of sales and services 
The cost of food and beverages decreased due to the temporary closure of Friday’s Boracay 
Beach Resort and Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort. 

 
• Gain on sale of properties 

Mainly due to the sale of condominium units of BHI. 
 

• Gain on reversal of liabilities 
Due to unrefunded customer deposits and recognition of liabilities no longer due and 
demandable. 

 
• 87% decrease in interest expense 
       Due to lower interest payment for the period. 
 
• Recovery of expected credit loss 

Due to recognition of expected credit loss for the period. 
 
• 539% decrease in foreign exchange gains (losses) -net 

Foreign exchange loss – net of Php 5,105.00 as compared to last year’s foreign exchange gain 
– net of Php 1,164.00 due to foreign currency fluctuation. 
 

• 44% decrease in interest income  
Due to lower interest income received for the period. 
 

• 49% decrease net interest cost on retirement benefits costs 
Due to lower interest cost on retirement benefits costs for the period. 

 
• 212% increase in loss before income tax 

Mainly due to the temporary closure of Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort and Friday’s Puerto 
Galera Beach Resort starting March 17, 2020 and March 14, 2020, respectively (peak season).  
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• 42% decrease in provision for income tax 
Mainly due to lower income for the period. 

 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position & Operational Highlights 
May 31, 2020 and 2019 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
 

 
In Million Pesos   May 31, 2020    May 31, 2019 % 

Change 

 
Total Current Assets  P=58.762  P=53.707 9% 

 
Total Noncurrent Assets  1,947.602  1,988.717 (2%) 

 
Total Assets  P=2,006.364  P=2,042.424 (2%) 

 

 
Total Current Liabilities  P=198.024  P=208.448  (4%) 

 
Noncurrent Liabilities  149.677   102.885 45% 

 
Equity  1,658.663  1,731.091 (4%) 

 
Total Liabilities and Equity  P=2,006.364  P=2,042.424 (2%) 

 
 
Statements of Financial Position Items - 2020 versus 2019 
• 14% decrease in cash 

Mainly due to decrease in cash collections for the period. 
 
• 12% decrease in trade and other receivables – net 

Mainly due to decrease in trade receivable for the period amounting P=6.15 million versus P=6.95 
million same period last year. 
 

• 84% increase in inventories – at cost 
Over supply of general merchandise, and operating supplies due to the unexpected temporary 
closure caused by the pandemic. 
 

• 42% increase in prepayments and other current assets 
Mainly due to the increase of input VAT and deferred input VAT. 
 

• 13% decrease in non-current assets held-for-sale 
Mainly due to the sale of condominium units of BHI. 
 

• 49% decrease other non-current assets 
Mainly due to impairment loss on other non-current assets. 

 
• 6% decrease in trade and other payables 

Mainly due to decrease in guests deposits, other current liabilities, and other non-trade 
liabilities. 
 

• 7% increase in income tax payable 
Mainly due to sale of BHI condominium units for the period. 
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• 15% decrease in amounts owed to related parties 
Mainly due to decrease in amounts owed to related parties for the period 

 
• 66% increase in customers’ deposit  

Mainly due to increase in deposit of customers for the period. 
 

• 220% increase in retirement benefits liability 
Mainly due to increase in current service cost. 
 

• 43% increase in deposit for future stock subscription 
Mainly due to increase in deposits of JP Guilds, Inc. on future stock subscription for the 
period. 

 
• 34% increase in deficit  

Mainly due to the decrease in revenues of FBBR and FPGBR for the period caused by the 
pandemic. 
 

• 115% decrease in non-controlling interest  
Mainly due to the decrease in revenues of FBBR and FPGBR for the period caused by the 
pandemic. 

 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Operational Highlights 
Years Ended May 31, 2020 and 2019 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
  

 
May 31, 2020 May 31, 2019  

Net cash flows used in operating activities     ( P=49.050)        ( P=44.330)   
Net cash flows generated from (used in) investing activities          10.969          (2.115)  
Net cash flows generated from financing activities        37.767        46.384  
Net decrease in cash       (P=.313)       (P=.062)  

 
The consolidated cash flow statements show a minimal net decrease in cash for the year ended 
May 31, 2020 of P=.313 million (2019: P=.062 million).  Cash flows used in operating activities for 
the period is P=49.050 million. The Company invested in property and equipment amounting to P=
8.387 million, proceeds from sale of properties amounting to P=10.217 million and other noncurrent 
assets increased by P=9.139 million. 
  
The Group sourced its capital requirements generally through a combination of internally 
generated cash, from advance hotel bookings at Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort and Fridays Puerto 
Galera Beach Resort, and proceeds from the issuance of capital stock.  Its fundamentals remained 
and its statements of financial condition continued to reflect stability. 
 
The Registrant kept its borrowings at low level or zero bank debt for the period.  Total peso-
denominated liabilities registered at P=347.702 million in 2020 (2019: P=311.334 million).   
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Capital Expenditure 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries registered total property and equipment acquisition in 2020 
worth P=8.387 million primarily for the luxurious boutique hotel construction and the purchase of 
furniture and fixtures (2019: P=3.724 million) in Puerto Galera.  

                
Employees 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries maintained an average monthly employee of 85 for the year 
ended May 31, 2020 and 106 employees for 2019.  

 
Dividends 

 
There has been no declaration of dividends in the two most recent years.  

Loss per share 
 

Loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Parent for the current year is P=0.0032                   
(2019: P=0.0007). 

Other Matters 
 
There were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationship of the Company with unconsolidated entities or 
other persons during the reporting period. 

Financial Soundness Indicators  
 
The Company’s and its majority owned subsidiaries financial soundness indicators are shown 
below. 

                Twelve months period ended 
May 31, 2020 May 31, 2019 

a. Current /Liquidity Ratios 
Current ratio(1) 

Quick ratio(2) 

 
29.67% 
21.63% 

 
25.77% 
17.55% 

b. Solvency/Debt-to-Equity Ratios 
Debt to equity ratio(3) 

Net debt equity ratio(4) 

 
20.96% 
20.85% 

 
17.98% 
17.85% 

 c.     Asset to equity ratio(5) 120.96% 117.98% 
 d.    Interest rate coverage ratio(6) Nil Nil 
  e     Profitability Ratios 
         Net income margin(7) 

        Return on total assets(8) 
        Return on total equity(9) 

 
95.97% 
3.58% 
4.27% 

 
(30.27%) 
(1.62%) 
(1.90%) 

 
(1) Current assets/Current liabilities 
(2) Cash and cash equivalents + trade and other receivables-net + prepayment and other current assets 
      Current liabilities 
(3) Total liabilities 
     Total equity 
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(4) Current portion of obligation – cash and cash equivalents 
     Equity - non controlling interests  
(5) Total assets 
     Total equity 
(6) EBITDA 
     Interest expense 
(7) Net income attributable to equity holders of BHI 
     Total revenue 
(8) Net income after tax 
     Average of total assets current year and total assets previous year 
(9) Net income after tax 
     Average of total equity current year and total equity previous year 
 
 

Review of Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2019 Compared with Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2018 
 
Overview     
 
BHI main segment is hotels, leisure and tourism.  This segment is provided mainly by Friday’s 
Holdings, Inc., owner and operator of Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort.  The total 
consolidated sales is P=112.76 million for the current year (2018: P=100.72 million).  The 
management has continued to take actions that will further develop this segment:  a) the   
impending business development of Friday’s Puerto Galera at Boquete Island, Puerto Galera, 
Mindoro, which started its soft opening last December 15, 2017 and of Friday’s Boracay Island 
Beach Resort; b) the re-possession of the property at Boracay, Aklan; and c) the latest acquisition 
of  a parcel of  land, building, and furniture and fixtures at Boracay Island for further  development  
that  will further enhance future sales growth. In August 2011, BHI entered to an agreement to 
acquire shares of Cala Paniman, Inc. (“CALA”) and put up to P=100 million worth of investment. 
As of May 31, 2019, the Group’s management deemed that its investment to CALA is already 
impaired and recognized impairment loss. Net loss decreased to P=34.14 million for the current 
period from P=54.02 million in 2018 mainly due to higher sales received for the current year by P=
12.05 million.  
 
The following are the highlights of the performance of the Registrant and its subsidiaries. 
 
Consolidated Statements of 
Income and Operational Highlights 
Years Ended May 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
 
 
 

    
   May 31, 2019 

   
   May 31, 2018 

% 
Change 

    Revenues P=112.762 P=100.716        12% 
Cost and Expenses 161.854 148.745      9% 
Other Income (charges) - net 16.224 (3.125) 619% 
Loss Before Income  (32.868) (51.154)      (36%) 
Provision for Income Tax (1.268) (2.868)      (56%) 
Net Loss (P=34.136) (P=54.022) (37%) 
Attributable to  

 
     Equity holders of the Parent (P=8.863) (P=37.815) (77%) 

   Non-controlling interests            (25.273)            (16.207) 56% 
  (P=34.136) (P=54.022) (37%) 
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Material changes (+ / -  5% or more) in the financial  statements 
 
Statements of Income Items – 2019 versus 2018 
• 6% increase in rooms revenues 

25% increase in food and beverages revenues 
8% increase in other revenues 
12 % increase in total revenues 
Room revenues increased due to higher room rates because of the limited availability of hotel 
rooms during the re-opening of Boracay, Malay, Aklan that took effect on October 26, 2018 
which Friday’s Boracay Beach Resort re-opened on October 30, 2018 and one of the few 
hotels to cater guests. Food and beverage revenues and other revenues increased due to more 
sales were realized for the period mainly from wedding and group bookings, guests transfer 
and commission income. Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach Resort which was in full operation 
contributed in the revenues for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019. 
 

• 49% increase in cost of sales and services 
The cost of food and beverages increased due to higher revenues for the period. The related 
hotel expenses increased due to effect of higher number of customers served from weddings 
and group bookings and the reclassification of construction in progress subject for depreciation 
(See Note 10 in the Financial Statement). 

 
• 9% decrease in general, administrative and selling expenses 

Mainly due to the effect of lower expenses incurred for the period from professional fees, fees 
and licenses, power, water and light consumption, entertainment, amusement and recreation, 
advertising and promotion and others. 
 

• Impairment loss on deposit for future stock investment 
Mainly due to impairment loss on investment to CALA. 

 
• 71% increase in interest income and others 
       Due to higher interest income received for the period. 
 
• Foreign exchange gains (losses) – net 

Foreign exchange gain – net of Php 1,164.00 as compared to last year’s foreign exchange loss 
– net of Php 5,315.00 due to foreign currency fluctuation. 
 

• 27% increase in net interest cost on retirement benefits costs  
Mainly due to increased personnel related expenses and higher manpower count for the period. 
 

• Interest expenses 
Mainly due to interest expense incurred for the year on the P=35.0 million advances made in 
October 2017 at 12% per annum.  
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• 36% decrease in net loss before income tax 
Mainly due to gain on disposal of foreign investments and minimal sales growth. 
 

• 56% decrease in provision for income tax 
Mainly due to minimal sales growth and higher cost of sales and services for the period. 

 
 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position & Operational Highlights 
May 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
 

 
In Million Pesos   May 31, 2019    May 31, 2018 % 

Change 

 
Total Current Assets  P=53.707  P=30.494 76% 

 
Total Noncurrent Assets  1,988.717  2,130.961 (7%) 

 
Total Assets  P=2,042.424  P=2,161.455  (6%) 

 

 
Total Current Liabilities  P=208.448  P=249.850  (17%) 

 
Noncurrent Liabilities  102.885   43.148  138% 

 
Equity  1,731.091  1,868.457 (7%) 

 
Total Liabilities and Equity  P=2,042.424  P=2,161.455 (6%) 

 
 
Statements of Financial Position Items - 2019 versus 2018 
• 54% increase in trade and other receivables – net 

Mainly due to increase in trade receivable for the period amounting P=6.95 million versus 
P=4.50 million same period last year. 
 

• 91% increase in amounts owed by related parties. 
Mainly due to increase in amounts owed for the period. 
 

• Non-current assets held-for-sale 
Mainly due to the reclassification of investment properties classified as non-current assets 
held-for-sale of condominium units, none same period last year. 
 

• 81% decrease other non-current assets 
Mainly due to impairment loss on investment to CALA. 

 
• 16% decrease in trade and other payables 

Mainly due to decrease in trade payable, accrued utilities and others which include insurance, 
accrual for probable claims, interests, advertising and unearned rentals. 
 

• 13% decrease in income tax payable 
Mainly due to increase in loss for the period versus same period last year. 
 

• 38% decrease in amounts owed to related parties 
Mainly due to decrease in amounts owed to related parties for the period 
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• 311% increase in customers’ deposit  
Mainly due to increase in deposit of customers for the period. 
 

• 8% increase in deferred tax liability 
Mainly due to changes in demographic assumptions for the current year. 
 

• 170% increase in deposit for future stock subscription 
Mainly due to increase in deposits of JP Guilds, Inc. on future stock subscription for the 
period. 
 

• Cumulative translation adjustments 
Mainly due to gain on disposal of foreign investments. 

 
• 8% increase in remeasurement gain on retirement benefits liability  

Mainly due to increase in the actuarial gains for the period. 
 
• 8% increase in deficit  

Mainly due to the consolidated loss for the period. 
 

• 54% decrease in non-controlling interest  
Mainly due to the effect of the consolidation for the period. 

 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows   Operational Highlights 
Years Ended May 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
  

 
May 31, 2019 May 31, 2018  

Net cash flows generated from (used in) operating activities      (P=44.330)        P= 63.456  
Net cash flows used in investing activities          (2.115)         (123.600)  
Net cash flows generate from financing activities        46.384        59.804  
Net decrease in cash       (P=.062)       (P=.250)  

 
The consolidated cash flow statements show a minimal net decrease in cash for the year ended 
May 31, 2019 of P=.062 million (2018: P=.250 million). Cash flows used in  operating activities for 
the period is P=44.330 million. The Company invested in property and equipment amounting to P=
3.724 million and other noncurrent assets increase by P=1.609 million.  
 
The Group sourced its capital requirements generally through a combination of internally 
generated cash, from advance hotel bookings at Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort, and 
proceeds from the issuance of capital stock.  Its fundamentals remained and its statements of 
financial condition continued to reflect stability. 
 
The Registrant kept its borrowings at low level or zero bank debt for the period. Total peso-
denominated liabilities registered at P=311.334 million in 2019 (2018: P=292.998 million).   
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Capital Expenditure 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries registered total property and equipment acquisition in 2019 
worth P=3.724 million primarily for  the  luxurious boutique hotel construction and the purchase of 
furniture and fixtures (2018: P=88.882 million) in Puerto Galera. 

Employees 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries maintained an average monthly employees of 106 for the year 
ended May 31, 2019 and 84 employees for 2018. 

Dividends 

There has been no declaration of dividends in the two most recent years.  

Loss per share 
 

Loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Parent for the current year is P=0.0007                   
(2018:   P=.0032). 

Other Matters   
 
On February 22, 2019, the Group’s management informed its shareholders the plan to sell its 
portfolio of condominium units to concentrate on the Group’s core businesses in hotel and resort. 
There were no known other trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 
expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales and revenues or income 
from continuing operation.  

There were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationship of the Company with unconsolidated entities or 
other persons during the reporting period. The revenues and expenses disclosed in the income 
statements are all business related transactions and arose from the Company's continuing 
operations.  

There were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition of the 
Company or results of its operations. 

Financial Soundness Indicators  

The Company’s and its majority owned subsidiaries financial soundness indicators are shown 
below. 
 

                Twelve months period ended 
May 31, 2019 May 31, 2018 

c. Current /Liquidity Ratios 
Current ratio(1) 

Quick ratio(2) 

 
25.77% 
17.55% 

 
12.20% 
11.77% 

d. Solvency/Debt-to-Equity Ratios 
Debt to equity ratio(3) 

Net debt equity ratio(4) 

 
17.98% 
17.85% 

 
15.68% 
15.56% 

 c.     Asset to equity ratio(5) 117.98% 115.68% 
 d.    Interest rate coverage ratio(6) Nil Nil 
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  e     Profitability Ratios 
         Net income margin(7) 

        Return on total assets(8) 
        Return on total equity(9) 

 
(30.27%) 
(1.62%) 
(1.90%) 

 
(53.64%) 
(2.53%) 
(2.87%) 

 
(1) Current assets/Current liabilities 
(2) Cash and cash equivalents + trade and other receivables-net + prepayment and other current assets 
      Current liabilities 
(3) Total liabilities 
     Total equity 
(4) Current portion of obligation – cash and cash equivalents 
     Equity - non controlling interests  
(5) Total assets 
    Total equity 
(6) EBITDA 
     Interest expense 
(7) Net income attributable to equity holders of BHI 
     Total revenue 
(8) Net income after tax 
     Average of total assets current year and total assets previous year 
(9) Net income after tax 
     Average of total equity current year and total equity previous year 

 
Review of Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2018 Compared with Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2017 
 
Overview     
 
BHI main segment is hotels, leisure and tourism. This segment is provided mainly by Friday’s 
Holdings, Inc., owner and operator of Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort. The total 
consolidated sales is P=100.72 million for the current year (2017: P=97.831 million). The 
management has continued to take actions that will further develop this segment: a) the impending 
business development of Friday’s Puerto Galera at Boquete Island, Puerto Galera, Mindoro, 
Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort which started its soft opening last December 15, 2017; b) 
the re-possession of the property at Boracay, Aklan; c) the latest acquisition of a parcel of land, 
building, and furniture and fixtures at Boracay Island for further development that will further 
enhance future sales growth; and d) the plan of the Parent Company to acquire 100% stake in Cala 
Paniman, Inc. (“CALA”) through a share-sale purchase agreement. BHI is purchasing CALA as a 
vehicle for prospective joint ventures in the resort property sector, with the right partners and 
completing synergies. The Parent Company’s strategy to acquire 100% stake in CALA has not 
been consummated yet. Net loss decreased to P=54.02 million for the current period from P=55.02 
million in 2017 mainly due to higher costs and expenses incurred for the current year by P=16.12 
million. 

The following are the highlights of the performance of the Registrant and its subsidiaries. 
 
Consolidated Statements of 
Income and Operational Highlights 
Years Ended May 31, 2018 and 2017 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 

 
 
 

    
   May 31, 2018 

   
   May 31, 2017 

% 
Change 

Revenues P=100.716 P=97.831 3% 
Cost and Expenses 148.745 132.626 12% 
Other Income (charges) - net (3.125) (10.720) (71%) 
Loss Before Income  (51.154) (45.515) 12% 



   17-A 05/31/2020                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                

   

33 

Provision for Income Tax (2.868) (9.508) (70%) 
 Net Loss (P=54.022) (P=55.023) (2%) 
Attributable to  

 
  

   Equity holders of the Parent (P=37.815) (P=39.204) (4%) 
   Non-controlling interests            (16.207)               (15.819) 2% 
  (P=54.022) (P=55.023) (2%) 

 
 
Material changes (+ / - 5% or more) in the financial statements 
 
Statements of Income Items – 2018 versus 2017 
• 0% decrease in rooms revenues 

13% increase in food and beverages revenues 
7% decrease in other revenues 
3 % increase in total revenues 
Food and beverage revenues increased due to more sales were realized for the period while 
room revenues were flat as compared to same period last year.   Other revenues decreased   
mainly due to the temporary six (6) months closure of Boracay, Malay, Aklan that took effect 
on April 26, 2018.  FHI was affected by Boracay closure resulting in the decrease in other 
revenues mainly on the guests transfer and commission income.  Friday’s Puerto Galera Beach 
Resort which was opened in December 2017 contributed in the revenues for the fiscal year 
ended May 31, 2018. 
 

• 18% increase in general, administrative and selling expenses 
Mainly due to the effect of higher expenses incurred for the period as the new resort, Friday’s 
Puerto Galera Beach  Resort was soft opened in December 2017 resulting in the increase of  
personnel costs, depreciation, power, light and water, security services, repairs and 
maintenance, provisions for impairment losses, entertainment, amusement and recreation, 
communications, commissions, supplies, dues and subscriptions and others. 

 
• 54% decrease in interest income and others 
       Due to lower interest income and others received for the period. 
 
• Foreign exchange gains (losses) – net 

Due to foreign currency differential, the foreign currency losses received for the period 
amounting to P=.01 million  versus  P=.04 million income same period last year. 
 

• 11% decrease in net interest cost on retirement benefits costs  
Mainly due to reduced personnel related expenses and lower manpower count for the period. 
 

• Interest expenses 
Mainly due to interest expense incurred for the year on the P=35.0 million advances made in 
October 2017 at 12% p.a. as compared to nil same period last year.  
 

• Loss on derecognition  
This represents the 2017 cost of the damaged and demolished two (2) clusters hotel resort 
properties that was previously capitalized for the period for P=10.43 million nil in 2018. 
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• 12% increase in net loss before income tax 
Mainly due to increase in general, administrative and selling expenses for the period. 

 
• 70% decrease in provision for income tax 
Mainly due to minimal sales growth and higher general, administrative and selling expenses for the 
period as explained above versus same period last year. 
 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position & Operational Highlights 
May 31, 2018 and 2017 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
 

 
In Million Pesos       May 31, 2018       May 31, 2017 % 

Change 

 
Total Current Assets  P=30.494  P=87.503  (65%) 

 
Total Noncurrent Assets  2,130.961  2,027.957 5% 

 
Total Assets  P=2,161.455   P=2,115.460  2% 

 

 
Total Current Liabilities  P=249.850   P=216.504  15% 

 
Noncurrent Liabilities  43.148   8.431  412% 

 
Equity  1,868.457  1,890.525 (1%) 

 
Total Liabilities and Equity  P=2,161.455  P=2,115.460 2% 

 
 
Statements of Financial Position Items - 2018 versus 2017 
• 10% decrease in cash 

Mainly due to decrease collection of subscription receivable net cash usage on the acquisition of 
property and equipment. 
 

• 7% decrease in trade and other receivables 
Mainly due to decrease in trade receivable for the period amounting P=4.50 million versus P=4.87 
million same period last year. 
 

• 88% decrease in amounts owed by related parties. 
Mainly due to decrease in amounts owed for the period. 
 

• 25% increase in inventories. 
Mainly due to increase of general supplies, beverage, and operating supplies for the period. 

 
• 53% decrease in prepayments and other current assets 

Mainly due to decrease in input VAT, prepayments and advances to suppliers.  
 
• 51% increase in property and equipment 

Mainly due to the reclassification of deposit for land acquisition classified as other non current 
assets to property and equipment and hotel construction of Friday’s Beach Resort in Puerto 
Galera.  The reclassification of the construction in progress worth P=184.06 million in 2018, 
increase effectively building and building equipment for the same amount. The increase is also 
caused by the acquisitions/additions of furniture and fixtures, machinery and equipment, 
operating equipment and glassware. 
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• 73% decrease in other non-current assets 
Mainly due to the reclassification of deposit for land acquisition classified as other non current 
assets in 2017 to property and equipment under land net of additions of deferred input VAT. 

• 18% increase in trade and other payables 
Mainly due to increase in trade payable, accrued services, accrued utilities and others which 
include insurance, accrual for probable claims, interests, advertising and unearned rentals. 
 

• 16% decrease in amounts owed to related parties 
Mainly due to decrease in amounts owed to related parties for the period 

 
• 25% increase in customers’ deposit  

Mainly due to increase in deposit of customers for the period. 
 

• 22% increase in deferred tax liability 
Mainly due to changes in demographic assumptions for the current year. 
 

• 12% decrease in retirement benefits liability 
Mainly due to changes in demographic assumptions for the current year. 
 

• Deposit for future stock subscription 
Mainly due to deposits of JP Guilds, Inc. on future stock subscription for the period none same 
period last year.  
 

• 26% increase in remeasurement gain on retirement benefits liability  
Mainly due to increase in the actuarial gains for the period. 

 
• Subscription receivable  

Mainly due to collections of the remaining subscription receivables for the period from the  
stockholder.  

 
• 55% increase in deficit  

Mainly due to loss for the period. 
 

• 23% decrease in non-controlling interest  
Mainly due to the effect of the consolidation for the period. 

 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows   Operational Highlights 
Years Ended May 31, 2018 and 2017 
(In Million Pesos Unless Otherwise Stated) 
  

 
May 31, 2018 May 31, 2017 

Net cash flows generated from (used in) operating activities        P=43.452         (P=16.352)  
Net cash flows used in investing activities          (103.418)          (81.521) 
Net cash flows generated from financing activities        59.804        98.399 
Net increase (decrease) in cash       (P=.162)       P=.526 
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The consolidated cash flow statements show a minimal net increase in cash for the year ended May 
31, 2018 of P=.162 million (2017: P=.526 million net increase).  Cash flows generated from operating 
activities for the period is P=43.452 million.  The Company invested in property and equipment 
amounting to P=85.141 million and   other noncurrent assets for P=18.277 million.  For the current 
period the Company   received P=30.746 million proceeds from subscription receivable collections. 
  
The Group sourced its capital requirements generally through a combination of internally 
generated cash, from advance hotel bookings at Friday’s Boracay Island Beach Resort, and 
proceeds from the issuance of capital stock.  Its fundamentals remained and its statements of 
financial condition continued to reflect stability. 
 
The Registrant kept its borrowings at low level or zero bank debt for the period.  Total peso-
denominated liabilities registered at P=292.998 million in 2018 (2017: P=224.935  million). 
 
Capital Expenditure 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries registered total property and equipment acquisition in 2018 
worth P=85.141 million primarily for luxurious boutique hotel construction and the purchase of 
furniture and fixtures (2017: P=51.123 million) in Puerto Galera. 

Employees 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries maintained an average monthly employee of 84 for the year 
ended May 31, 2018 and 74 employees for 2017.  

Dividends 
 

There has been no declaration of dividends in the two most recent years.  

Loss per share 

Loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Parent for the current year is P=0.0032                   
(2017: P=.0033). 

Other Matters  
 
There were no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected 
to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales and revenues or income from 
continuing operation. 

There were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationship of the Company with unconsolidated entities or 
other persons during the reporting period. The revenues and expenses disclosed in the income 
statements are all business related transactions and arose from the Company's continuing 
operations.  

There were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition of the 
Company or results of its operations. 
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Financial Soundness Indicators  

The Company’s and its majority owned subsidiaries financial soundness indicators are shown 
below. 

                Twelve months period ended 
May 31, 2018 May 31, 2017 

e. Current /Liquidity Ratios 
Current ratio(1) 

Quick ratio(2) 

 
12.20% 
11.77% 

 
40.42% 
40.01% 

f. Solvency/Debt-to-Equity Ratios 
Debt to equity ratio(3) 

Net debt equity ratio(4) 

 
15.68% 
15.56% 

 
11.90% 
11.76% 

 c.     Asset to equity ratio(5) 115.68% 111.90% 
 d.    Interest rate coverage ratio(6) Nil Nil 
  e     Profitability Ratios 
         Net income margin(7) 

        Return on total assets(8) 
        Return on total equity(9) 

 
(53.64%) 
(2.53%) 
(2.87%) 

 
(56.24%) 
(2.64%%) 
(2.95%) 

 
(1) Current assets/Current liabilities 
(2) Cash and cash equivalents + trade and other receivables-net + prepayment and other current assets 
      Current liabilities 
(3) Total liabilities 
     Total equity 
(4) Current portion of obligation – cash and cash equivalents 
     Equity - non controlling interests  
(5) Total assets 
    Total equity 
(6) EBITDA 
     Interest expense 
(7) Net income attributable to equity holders of BHI 
     Total revenue 
(8) Net income after tax 
     Average of total assets current year and total assets previous year 
(9) Net income after tax 
     Average of total equity current year and total equity previous year 

 
 
Plan of Operation for the next twelve (12) months    

Boulevard Holdings, Inc. aims to concentrate in the hospitality and leisure business. FBBR and 
FPGBR business will enhance the total operations of BHI considering the expected entrance of 
international chains in Boracay Island, Malay, Aklan and Boquete Island, Puerto Galera.  It will 
maintain its single-minded focus on its customers, which has always been FBBR’s strength and 
adapted by FPGBR. It will continuously deliver exceptional quality service and living up to the 
notion that “true hospitality comes from authentic desire to serve, from an attitude that is once 
thoughtful, friendly and genuinely caring”.  It will continue to improve its present facilities and 
will increase number of room-keys. In this pandemic situation, the major repairs and construction 
of the increase number of room-keys of FBBR and FPGBR has been suspended and will resume 
once the crisis subsides. The Group is looking forward on the availability of the COVID-19 
vaccine and the lifting of travel restrictions, which will result to an expected surge of tourist 
arrivals for the ensuing months and a further reason for optimism that will give positive growth for 
Group’s revenues and net earnings. COVID-19 has caused the Group to re-assess and implement 
new procedures to address the risks upon the re-opening of both Friday’s Resort. BHI will continue 
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to raise additional funds through private placement for its developments of Friday’s brand in 
Boracay and Puerto Galera. 
 
 
Item 7 – Financial Statements 
 
The May 31, 2020 audited consolidated financial statements and required supplementary schedules 
of Boulevard Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries are incorporated herein by reference under exhibits 
and reports. 
 
 
Item 8 – Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial 
Disclosure 
 
Pursuant to the General Requirements of SRC Rule 68, Par. 3 (Qualifications and Reports of 
Independent Auditors), the Company has engaged Alas, Oplas & Co., CPAs as its external auditor 
for 2020 lead by engagement partner Ms. Ma. Criselda S. Oplas. The annual consolidated fees 
billed for the audit of the Company’s financial statements amounted to P=1.760 million exclusive of 
VAT.  
 
The external auditor for 2020 were approved by the Audit Committee (Messrs. Klarence T. Dy as 
chairman, David L. Kho and Ricardo S. Pascua as members) and the board and stockholders. 
 
There has been no changes and/or disagreements with the external auditor on any accounting 
principles or practices, financial disclosures, and auditing scope or procedures. 
 
Alas, Oplas & Co., CPAs representatives will be present during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
and will be given opportunity to make a statement if they so desire. They are also expected to 
respond to appropriate queries, if needed. 
 
 

PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 
Item 9 – Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 
 

Name Office Citizenship Age 
Jose Marcel Panlilio Chairman/President  & CEO Filipino 56 
Lorenzo R. Tañada III Vice Chairman/Corporate Compliance Officer Filipino 57 
Victor V. Benavidez Director/Treasurer Filipino 69 
David L. Kho Independent Director* Filipino 72 
Klarence T. Dy Independent Director* Filipino 51 
Ricardo S. Pascua Director* Filipino 71 
Christopher M. Gotanco Director Filipino 71 
Reynaldo Y. Maulit Director Filipino 86 
Michael Lancelot F. Panlilio Director Filipino 30 
Manuel R. Pamaran  Member-Board of Advisers Filipino 94 
Marlo T. Cristobal Member-Board of Advisers Filipino 73 
Sham A. Dawani Member-Board of Advisers Filipino 69 
Jim Baliad Corporate Secretary, Assistant Corporate 

Information Officer and Assistant Corporate 
Compliance Officer 

Filipino 49 

Odessa Lora D. Bodanio Head of Finance and Chief Corporate 
Information Officer 

Filipino 27 

  *BHI audit committee member  
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Profile of Directors, Advisers and Executive Officers  
 
Jose Marcel E. Panlilio 
Chairman, President & CEO 
 
Mr. Jose Marcel E. Panlilio, 56, has been a director of Boulevard Holdings, Inc. since 1994, its 
Chairman since December 1995, and President and CEO since October 2005. He is also the 
Director of Puerto Azul Golf and Country Club (“PAGCC”), Ternate Development Corporation 
(“TDC”), Crown One Land, Inc. (“COLI”), Friday’s Holdings, Inc. (“FHI”), and Friday’s Puerto 
Galera, Inc. (“FPGI”) for more than five years. He is the Chairman of Anglo-Asian Strategic 
Management, Inc. (“AASMI”) since 1999. He graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Science in 
Economics, with concentration in Finance at the Wharton School of Business & Finance at the 
University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia, PA, U.S.A. 
 
 
Lorenzo R. Tañada III 
Vice Chairman / Chief SEC Compliance Officer For Corporate Governance and Anti-Money 
Laundering Compliance Matters 
 
Mr. Lorenzo R. Tañada III, 57, was first elected Vice Chairman of BHI on May 20, 1996. He was 
elected Chairman and President of JP Guilds, Inc. He is also the Compliance Officer for both 
Corporate Governance and Anti-Money Laundering Requirements for BHI since 2002. He was 
elected congressman of the 4th District of Quezon since July 1, 2004 and was the Deputy Speaker 
of the House of Representatives up to June 30, 2013. He graduated with a degree of Bachelor of 
Arts in Political Science from Ateneo de Manila University and graduated with a degree of 
Bachelor of Laws from Manuel L. Quezon University. 
 
 
Victor V. Benavidez 
Director/Treasurer 
 
Mr. Victor V. Benavidez, 69 has been a director of BHI since December 2, 2005 and a Treasurer 
effective August 15, 2014 up to present. He sits as director of FHI since March 2012 and of FPGI 
since August 2006 up to present. He was appointed Treasurer of FPGI effective December 29, 
2014. He has been the General Manager of Alakor Securities Corporation since March 1996. He 
has been a director of Seafront Resources Corporation since May 19, 2017, Anglo Philippines 
Holdings Corporation since 1993 up to 2010; and Da Vinci Capital Holdings, Inc. up to May 3, 
2013. He graduated with the degree of BSC in Economics and MSC in Economics from the 
University of Sto. Tomas. He attended Professional Development Program at the Center for 
Research and Communications. 
 
 
David L. Kho 
Independent Director 
 
Atty. David L. Kho, 72, Filipino, has been a director of BHI effective April 7, 2017.  He is into 
private law practice since his graduation. He was a member of the 15th Congress and is currently a 
Director of IPM Holdings, Toyota Manila Bay, etc. He served as Corporate Secretary and Legal 
Counsel for various companies, Director and adviser of Philippine Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry, QC Chapter. He authored "Businessmen's Guide to Bouncing Checks, Profitable 
Investments in the Stock Market, and published "Health Gazette." He was a topnotcher in the 1981 
Real Estate Broker's Exam. He was past president of the Rotary Club of Sto. Domingo, QC., past 
Director of Q.C. Sports Club and presently a Trustee of the Kapihan  sa   Klub Filipino.   Atty. 
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David L. Kho graduated from the U.P. College of Law in 1972 and obtained his 
Business   Administration degree from the same school.   
 
 
Klarence T. Dy 
Independent Director 
 
Mr. Klarence T. Dy, 51, Filipino, has been an independent director of BHI effective April 7, 2017.  
He has been connected with Tower Securities, Inc. as Trader from August 2004 to present, Vice-
President Sales from July 2000 to June 2004, Trader from 1998 to 2000, Trader/Corporate 
Secretary March 1990 to November 1998.  His work experience includes that as an Independent 
Director of   Apollo Global Capital, Inc. from October 20, 2015 up to present; Director of 
Ferronickel Holdings, Inc. from June 28, 2013 to August 29, 2014 and Director of Da Vince 
Holdings, Inc. from December 2012 to May 3, 2013. He is conversant with Securities Valuation 
and Fundamental and Technical Analysis.  He is familiar with the key operations of the Philippine 
Stock Exchange and the local equities markets.   He graduated from the University of Southern 
California, Los Angeles, CA, 90007, USA with Bachelor of Science Degree in Accountancy. He is 
a PSE Certified Securities Representative exam passer. 
 
 
Ricardo S. Pascua 
Director 
 
Mr. Ricardo S. Pascua, 71, has been a director of BHI since December 2, 2005 up to present.  He 
has been   an Independent Director of Wilcon Depot, Inc. since September 2016 up to present.    
He was Vice Chairman of the Board and President and CEO of Metro Pacific Corporation from 
January 2000 until his retirement in December 2001, a position he held also from January 1993 to 
July 1995. In between, he was Vice Chairman and CEO of Fort Bonifacio Development 
Corporation. He was an Executive Director of First Pacific Company Ltd. from 1982 to 2001 and 
as such served in the boards of companies such as Smart Communications, Inc., United 
Commercial Bank in San Francisco, California, First Pacific Bank in Hong Kong and 1st eBank in 
Manila. Mr. Pascua started his career in Bancom Development Corporation as Asst. Vice President 
in 1972 and was assigned in Bancom International Ltd. in Hong Kong as Senior Manager in 1975. 
Currently, Mr. Pascua serves as an independent director in various corporations and foundations. 
He is likewise involved in several businesses as Chairman of the Board of Caelum Developers Inc., 
Facilities & Property Management Technologies, Inc., Ascension Phildevelopers, Inc., Chairman 
of the Executive Committee of Phoenix Land Inc. and a Director in Central Luzon Doctor’s 
Hospital, Costa de Madera Corp. and Quicksilver Satcom Ventures, Inc., and the President of 
Bancom II Consultants, Inc. Mr. Pascua has a Master of Business Management from Asian 
Institute of Management obtained in 1971 and he finished his bachelor’s degree majoring in 
Economics (Cum Laude) from the Ateneo de  Manila University. 
 
 
Christopher M. Gotanco 
Director 
 
Mr. Christopher M. Gotanco, 71, has been a director of Boulevard Holdings, Inc. since February 7, 
2007 up to present and Treasurer since November 19, 2010 up to February 10, 2012.  He was a 
Hubert Humphrey Fellow in International Business and Development at the Fletcher School of 
Law and Diplomacy (Tufts University, Boston, MA) where he took up masteral degree studies in 
1983. He has a Master’s Degree in Business Management (With Distinction) at the Asian Institute 
of Management and is a graduate of the University of the Philippines, Bachelor of Arts in Political 
Science (Magna Cum Laude).  Mr. Gotanco’s Corporate affiliations include serving as President & 
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COO of Anglo Philippine Holdings Corporation, Chairman of Penta Capital Finance Corporation, 
Vice Chairman of Penta Capital Investment Corporation and Vulcan Industrial and Mining 
Corporation. He is also a member of the Board of United Paragon and Mining Corporation, MRT 
Development Corp, MRT Holdings, Inc. and North Triangle Depot Commercial Corp. 
 

  
 
Reynaldo Y. Maulit 
Director 
 
Mr. Reynaldo Y. Maulit, 86, has been a director of Boulevard Holdings, Inc. since December 28, 
1998 up to April 7, 2017 and was re-appointed as member of the board of director on April 20, 
2018 up to present.   He was a member of the BHI board of advisers for one year from   April 7, 
2017 up to April 20, 2017. He is also the managing partner of Valdez Maulit Macandong and 
Associates Law Offices and senior partner of LCMA Group since 1998. He earned the degree of 
Bachelor of Laws from Baguio Colleges Foundation, Master in Business Administration at the 
Development Academy of the Philippines, and Graduate School for Judges from the University of 
California, Berkeley Campus, California, U.S.A 
 
 
Michael Lancelot F. Panlilio 
Director 
 
Mr. Michael Lancelot F. Panlilio, 30, Filipino, has been a director of BHI effective April 19, 2016. 
He has been a director of, J.P. Guilds, Inc. since May 2013 and Treasurer since April 28, 2017; 
Puerto Azul Master Community, Inc. (“PAMCI”), since June 19, 2015; and Puerto Azul Land, Inc. 
since July 2015 up to present. He has been a Consultant of BHI since July 2015 up to present. He 
worked in the Front Office at Crown Towers at City of Dreams Manila from October 2014 to June 
2015 and at Encore at Wynn Las Vegas from September 2012 to July 2013. He was an intern for 
his on the job training at Radisson Warwick Hotel at Warwick, Rhode Island, U.S.A. and ONEo 15 
Marina Club at Sentosa, Singapore. He graduated with the degree of Bachelor of Science major in 
Hotel & Lodging Management, with concentration in resort management (Dean’s Lister) from 
Johnson & Wales University, Abbott Park Place, Providence, Rhode Island, U.S.A. 
 
 
Marlo T. Cristobal 
Member-Board of Advisers 
 
Mr. Marlo T. Cristobal, 73, has been appointed as member of the board of advisers since August 
16, 2007 and served as BHI director since July 13, 1994 up to August 2007. For the past five years, 
he sits as director of PAGCC. He obtained his Bachelor of Arts in Economics degree and Bachelor 
of Laws from the University of the Philippines. 
 
 
Manuel R. Pamaran  
Member - Board of Advisers 
 
Mr. Manuel R. Pamaran, 93, was appointed as member of the board of advisers since August 16, 
2007. He sits as director of Friday’s Holdings, Inc. since March 2012. He is engaged in private law 
practice under a firm name Pamaran Ramos & Partners Law Offices. He is the Dean, College of 
Law, Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Pasay; Member, Board of Trustees, Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng 
Pasay; Member, Board of Regents, Universidad de Manila; legal consultant, Office of the Mayor, 
Pasay City; Lecturer, U.P. Law Center; President, Hunters, ROTC Guerilla Association; member, 
Vice President for Charter Organization, Supreme Council, Veterans Federation of the Philippines; 
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member, executive Board as Vice President for Charter Organization, VFP; member, Board of 
Trustees, Veterans World War II; appointed by the Supreme Court as member of the Sub-
committee on the Revision of Rules on Criminal Procedure under the Committee on the Revision 
of the Rules of Court. He was appointed as the Presiding Justice of Sandiganbayan in December 
1978 and retired on June 7, 1986. He was the Legal Consultant, Office of the Vice-President, 
Philippines 1996 to 1998. He served as Presidential Assistant on Justice, Office of the President 
1998 to 2001; Member, Board of Trustee, City College of Manila. He graduated with the degree of 
Bachelor of Laws from the Manuel L. Quezon University and Master of Laws with concentration 
in Taxation, Political Law and Labor Law from the Far Eastern University. 
 
 
Sham A. Daswani 
Member- Board of Advisers 
 
Mr. Sham A. Daswani, 69, has been appointed as member of the BHI board of advisers since April 
7, 2017 up to present.  He has been a director of BHI effective August 15, 2014 up to April 7, 
2017. He attended his college education at H.R. College of Commerce & Economics, one of the 
leading commerce and management colleges, affiliated to the prestigious University of Mumbai 
(Bombay). He was the President of various companies engaged in RTW garments and at present 
the Treasurer of Arya Wealthcare Incorporated which provides investment solutions for individuals 
seeking optimal returns. 
 
 
Jim P. Baliad 
Corporate Secretary /Alternate Corporate Information Officer /Alternate SEC Compliance 
Officer For Corporate Governance and Anti-Money Laundering Compliance Matters 
 
Jim P. Baliad, 49, is the Corporate Secretary of the Company since April 20, 2018 up to present.  
He is the BHI Alternate Corporate Information Officer and Alternate SEC Compliance Officer for 
both Corporate Governance and Anti-Money Laundering compliance matters since April 20, 2018. 
He serves as Corporate Secretary to a number of companies. He is a member of the Integrated Bar 
of the Philippines.  His work experience includes that as Legal Consultant and Lawyer of Cabrera 
& Makalintal Law Office and Trinidad Makalintal & Reverente Law Office. He graduated with the 
degree of Bachelor of Laws and obtained his BS Political Science degree from Adamson 
University. 
 
 
Odessa Lora D. Bodanio 
Head of Finance and Chief Corporate Information Officer 
 
Ms. Odessa Lora D. Bodanio, 27, has been appointed as BHI OIC - Head of Finance and Chief 
Corporate Information Officer effective December 11, 2019. She was hired as the Financial 
Analyst of Boulevard Holdings Inc. on July 6, 2017. She concurrently became OIC – Chief 
Accountant of Fridays Puerto Galera, Inc. on April 8, 2019 to supervise the company’s daily 
operations and the preparation of accounting reports until the first week of June 2019 and has been 
continuously assisting the new OIC – Chief Accountant of FPGI until November 29,2019. She 
worked in Herald Suites Pasong Tamo (Nipad Inc.) as Night Auditor from November 2014 to July 
2017 and was awarded Employee of the Month (Sept. 2016 to Nov. 2016), an award given to 
outstanding employees nominated by their respective Department Heads for performing well at 
work and later as the Employee of the Year (2016). She was an intern in the Accounting 
Department in Benguet State University from October 2012 to March 2013. She graduated with the 
degree of Associate in Accounting Technology and Bachelor of Science in Management 
Accounting in Saint Louis University, Baguio (2013), and with the degree of Bachelor of Science 
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in Accountancy in La Consolacion College Manila (2014). She obtained the National Certification 
III in Bookkeeping under the Philippine TVET Qualification and Certification System (TESDA). 
 
There are no events that occurred during the past five (5) years that are material to an evaluation of 
the ability or integrity of any director, any nominee for election as director, executive officer, 
underwriter or control person of   the registrant:   (a) any bankruptcy petition filed by or against 
any business of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of 
the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;  (b) any conviction of final judgment;  (c) 
being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reverse, suspended or vacated, of 
any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, 
barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities 
commodities, or banking activities; and (d) being found by a domestic or foreign court of 
competent jurisdiction (in civil action), the commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic 
or foreign exchange or other  organized trading market or self regulatory organization, to have 
violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment has not been reversed, 
suspended or vacated. 
 
Officers are appointed or elected annually by the Board of Directors, each to hold office until the 
corresponding meeting of the Board of Directors in the next year or until a successor shall have 
been elected, appointed or shall have qualified.  The directors and executive officers should serve 
for a period of one year.  The directors are elected at each Annual Stockholders’ Meeting by the 
stockholders entitled to vote.  Each director hold office until the next annual election for a term of 
one year and until his successor is duly elected unless he resigns, dies or is removed prior to such 
election.  Any vacancy in the Board other than by removal or expiration of term may be filled by a 
majority vote of the remaining members thereof at a meeting called for that purpose, if they still 
constitute a quorum.  The directors so chosen shall serve for the unexpired term of his predecessor 
in office.   
 
None of the directors or executive officers is involved in any material legal proceeding. 
 
No director has resigned nor declined to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors since the 
date of BHI’s last annual meeting because of a disagreement with BHI on matters relating to its 
operations, policies and practices.  
 
Likewise, the Company has an existing agreement with AASMI, the management arm of the 
Panlilio’s Group of Companies. AASMI, in coordination with the Company’s team of management 
professionals, provides management services on finance, project planning and asset management, 
marketing services and public relations, human resources development and security. 
 
The Company considers its entire work force as significant employees. Everyone is expected to 
work together as a team to achieve the Company’s goals and objectives. The business of the 
Company is not, however, highly dependent on the services of certain key personnel. 
 
Chairman Jose Marcel Panlilio is the father of Director Michael Lancelot F. Panlilio.   
 
 
Item 10 – Executive Compensation 
 
Information as to the aggregate compensation paid or accrued during the last two (2) fiscal years 
and to be paid in the ensuing fiscal year to five most highly compensated employees and all 
officers and directors as a group unnamed follows: 
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Jose Marcel Panlilio                    Chairman and President(1) 
Lorenzo R. Tañada III                 Vice Chairman(1) 
Victor V. Benavidez                    Treasurer(1) 
Jim P. Baliad.                               Corporate Secretary & Alternate Corporate Information Officer(1) 
Odessa Lora D. Bodanio           Head of Finance & Chief Corporate Information Office 
 
               Other  
     Salary            Bonus  Compensation  
2019 (Actual) 
Total officers    P=2,100,000       P=680,000         P=200,000   
Total directors      1,080,000       1,100,000                 150,000 
All officers & directors as a group            P=3,180,000              P=1,780,000               P=350,000 
 
 
2020  (Actual) 
Total officers    P=1,514,000         P=290,600          P=300,000   
Total directors         900,000                     550,000                 110,000 
All officers & directors as a group            P=2,414,000                  P=840,600               P=410,000 
 
2021 (Projected) 
Total officers    P=1,700,000        P=350,000          P=300,000   
Total directors      1,000,000                    700,000                  150,000 
All officers & directors as a group            P=2,700,000               P=1,050,000               P=450,000 
 
 
 (1) The members of the Board of Directors, Chairman and President, Vice Chairman, Treasurer and 
Corporate Secretary are not receiving any compensation directly or indirectly for any services they 
rendered. A per diem is given to directors and officers during each meeting of the Board of 
Directors of the Company who are physically present in the said meeting. The named officers 
received remuneration/allowance on a monthly basis from the respective subsidiaries or businesses 
they handle.  
 
Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control 
Agreements. 
 
There are no arrangements, such as consulting contracts, pursuant to which any director of the 
Company was compensated, or is to be compensated, directly or indirectly, during the Company’s 
last two completed fiscal years and the ensuing year, for any service rendered or to be rendered as 
director. 
 
There are no employment contracts between the registrant and executive officers/directors nor any 
compensatory plan or arrangement, including payments to be received from the Registrant, if such 
plan or arrangement results or will result from resignation, retirement or any other termination of 
such executive officer or director’s employment with the Registrant and its subsidiaries or from 
change-in-control of the Company, the executive officers of the Company to be compensated a 
total amount exceeding P=2,500,000.  
 
Warrants and Options Outstanding 
 
To date, BHI has not granted any stock option to its directors or executive officers. 
 
 
Item 11 – Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
 
As of May 31, 2020 BHI has no knowledge of any individual or any party who beneficially owns 
in excess of 5% of BHI common stock except as set forth  below: 
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Title of  
Class 

Name, Address of 
Record Owner and 
Relationship with 
Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner and 
Relationship with 
Record Owner 

 
 
 
Citizenship 

 
 
No of shares 
Held 

 
 
 
Percent 

 
Common  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Common 
 
 
 

 
PCD Nominee 
Corp-Filipino 
37/F Tower I, The 
Enterprise Center, 
Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City 
 
-PCD Nominee 
Corp. is not related 
to the registrant. 
 
 
JP Guilds, Inc.(a) 
Matrinco Bldg., 
#217 Chino Roces 
Ave., Makati City 
 

 
Beneficial owners are 
the clients of the PCD 
participants’ brokers.  
 
There are no beneficial 
owners owning more 
than 5% of the 
Registrant’s capital 
stock. 
 
 
 
Jose Marcel E. Panlilio 
& Family 
-Beneficial owner is 
the Chairman/President 
& CEO of the 
Registrant 

 
Filipino 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Filipino 
 
 
 
 

 
6,714,782,911 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4,696,564,776 

 
 
 

 
55.96% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
39.14% 

 
 

 

 (a)Atty. Lorenzo R. Tañada III was given the power to vote or dispose of the shares or direct the    
voting or disposition of the shares held by JP Guilds, Inc. 
 
Security Ownership of Management 
 
The following information shows the shareholdings beneficially held by the management of the 
Company as of May 31, 2020. 
 

Title of 
Class Name of Beneficial Owner 

Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

Total Shares Citizenship Percent 

Common Jose Marcel E. Panlilio & 
Family Direct 3,502,000 Filipino 0.03% 

        Indirect* 4,696,564,776 Filipino 39.14% 
Common David L. Kho Direct 54,590,000 Filipino 0.45% 
Common Michael Lancelot F. Panlilio Direct 2,460,000 Filipino 0.02% 
Common Christopher M. Gotanco Direct 1,200,010 Filipino 0.01% 
Common Sham A. Daswani Direct 250,000 Filipino 0.00% 
Common Reynaldo Y. Maulit Direct 100,000 Filipino 0.00% 
Common Ricardo S. Pascua Direct 10,000 Filipino 0.00% 
Common Victor B. Benavidez Direct 10,000 Filipino 0.00% 
Common  Klarence T. Dy Direct 10,000 Filipino 0.00% 
Common  Marlo T. Cristobal Direct 2,000 Filipino 0.00% 
Common Lorenzo R. Tañada III Direct 1 Filipino 0.00% 

Total     4,704,108,787   39.65% 
               *Under the name of JP Guilds, Inc. 

   There are no voting trust holders who hold five percent (5%) or more of the Company’s stock 
under a voting trust or similar agreement.  

 
There are no arrangements, which may result in a change in control of the Company. 
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Item 12 – Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 
The Directors by virtue of their interest in the share of the Company are deemed to have interests 
in the shares of its subsidiary companies and associated companies to the extent the Company has 
interest. The Registrant is not controlled by a Parent Company. 
 
Except for the material related party transactions already stated in Item 1 and Item 5 of this report  
and in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Company, there has been no 
material transaction during the last two years nor is there any material transaction currently 
proposed to which the Company was or is to be party in which any director or executive officer of 
the Company or stockholder of more than ten percent of the Company’s voting shares, and any 
member of the immediate family (including spouse, parents, children, siblings, and in-law) of any 
such director or officer or stockholder of more than ten percent of the Company’s voting shares 
had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest. 
 
BHI and the subsidiaries’ employees are required to disclose promptly any business and family 
related transactions with the Group to ensure that potential conflict of interests are determined and 
brought to the attention of the management. 
 
 
 

PART IV - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Item 13 – Corporate Governance 
 
The Company adopted a Manual on Corporate Governance to institutionalize the rules and 
principles of good corporate governance. A copy of the initial Manual was submitted to SEC and 
PSE on August 30, 2002. The first revision of the Manual was submitted to the governing agencies 
on June 22, 2008. The amendment pertained to the inclusion of requiring a director before 
assuming office to attend a seminar on corporate governance conducted by a duly recognized 
private or government institution. On February 24, 2011, the Company submitted the 4th Amended 
Manual on Corporate Governance to PSE and SEC. On July 25, 2014 another revision was made 
for  the company’s Manual on Corporate Governance. On May 23, 2017, the latest revision was 
made for BHI Manual on Corporate Governance and was submitted to PSE and SEC.   
 
Pursuant to the latest Revised Manual on Corporate Governance, four (4) Board committees – 
namely (1) Nomination, Compensation and Election Committee; (2) Corporate Governance 
Committee; (3) Risk Management and Oversight Committee; and (4) and Audit Committee were 
created to aid in complying with the principles of good corporate governance.   
 
Under the   Manual on Corporate Governance of the Company, the Compliance Officer directly is 
responsible for monitoring compliance with the provisions and requirements, as well as violations 
of the Manual of Corporate Governance and issues a certification with the countersignature of the 
Company’s Chairman/President and CEO regarding the level of compliance of the Company.  
 
The Company complies with regulations and issuances issued by government authorities pertaining 
to corporate governance. The Company’s directors and officers have complied with the practice 
and policies contained in the performance assessment sheet in compliance with SEC’s 
requirements. No sanctions have been imposed on any director, officer or employee on account of 
non-compliance.   
 
There were no major deviations from the Company’s Manual of Corporate Governance.  The 
Company has adopted in the Manual of Corporate Governance the leading practices and principles 
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of good corporate governance, and full compliance therewith has been made since the adoption of 
the Manual.  Per SEC Memorandum Circular No. 20, series of 2013, starting 2014 all members of 
the board of directors and key officers of publicly listed companies to attend corporate governance 
trainings only with SEC accredited training providers. 
 
The Company implemented the guidelines  as regards to business conduct affecting director, senior 
management and employees as to area of whistle blower. Illegal or unethical behavior by a 
colleague or co-employee, regardless of his or her level of authority, should not be condoned.  It is 
the responsibility of each employee to report legitimate concerns so that problems can be properly 
resolved and corrective measures instituted. An officer or employee who becomes aware of any 
violation on Code of Ethics should immediately notify his Department/Division Head. The 
Division/Department Head shall in turn immediately inform the President and CEO.  The President 
and CEO shall conduct or manage the necessary actions or investigation of any reported violations 
of this Code. In case Senior Management or any Board Member is involved, the same shall be 
referred to the Audit Committee. 
 
Among measures undertaken by the Company in order to fully comply with the provisions of the 
leading practices on good corporate governance adopted in its Manual on Corporate Governance 
are monitoring and evaluation of the internal control system for corporate governance.  The Board 
of Directors regularly reviews the Manual to ensure that the same remains relevant and is 
responsive to the needs of the organization. The Company is committed to good corporate 
governance and continues to improve and enhance its evaluation system for purposes of 
determining the level of compliance by the Company with its Manual on Corporate Governance. 
 
The Company is taking further steps to enhance adherence to principles and practices of good 
corporate governance. 
 
On August 03, 2020, BHI submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission the Integrated 
Annual Corporate Governance Report covering the period ended December 31, 2019. 
 
 
 

PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 
Item 14 – Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 
(a) Exhibits    
 
     The following exhibits are incorporated by reference in this report: 

- 2020 Consolidated Financial Statements: Boulevard Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
(Exhibit B) 

- 2020 Required Supplementary Schedules 
 
 (b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 
The following current reports have been conveyed by Boulevard Holdings, Inc. to SEC and PSE 
during the last ten months covered by this report through official disclosure letters dated:  

Date	 Disclosure	Details	
07/01/2019 BHI Sales May 2019 
07/09/2019 Public Ownership Report 

 List of Top 100 Stockholders 
07/19/2019 Update on BHI Property Business 
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07/24/2019 Reply to Exchange's Query - Update Report about BHI Budding 
Property Business 

09/03/2019 Request for extension to file SEC Form 17-A 
10/02/2019 Change in Corporate Contact Details and/or Website 

 Request for extension to file SEC Form 17-Q 
10/08/2019 Public Ownership Report 

 List of Top 100 Stockholders 

10/14/2019 Update on Corporate Actions/Material Transactions/Agreements - 
Delay in Financials 

 BHI Sales July 2019 
10/15/2019 BHI Sales August 2019 
10/28/2019 BHI Related Party Transaction Policy 

 Postponement of Annual Stockholders' Meeting 
11/07/2019 BHI Sales September 2019 

11/27/2019 Clarification of News Reports - Resort, residential complex to rise 
in Puerto Azul 

11/29/2019 BHI Sales October 2019 

 
Change in Directors and/or Officers (Resignation, Removal or 
Appointment, Election and/or Promotion) 

12/12/2019 Change in Directors and/or Officers (Resignation, Removal or 
Appointment, Election and/or Promotion) 

12/13/2019 (Amend-1) Change in Directors and/or Officers (Resignation, 
Removal or Appointment, Election and/or Promotion) 

12/26/2019 Change in External Auditor 
01/09/2020 Request for extension to file SEC Form 17-Q 
01/14/2020 Annual Report 
01/15/2020 Public Ownership Report 

 List of Top 100 Stockholders 
01/23/2020 BHI Sales November 2019 
01/24/2020 BHI Sales December 2019 
02/04/2020 Quarterly Report 
02/06/2020 Quarterly Report 
02/24/2020 Notice of Annual or Special Stockholder's Meeting 
03/12/2020 Information Statement 
03/16/2020 BHI Response on Covid19 
03/23/2020 (Amend-1) Notice of Annual or Special Stockholder's Meeting 
03/24/2020 (Amend-2) Notice of Annual or Special Stockholder's Meeting 
04/14/2020 Public Ownership Report 

 List of Top 100 Stockholders 
04/15/2020 Request for extension to file SEC Form 17-Q 
04/23/2020 BHI Business Update 
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Annex A: Reporting Template 
(For additional guidance on how to answer the Topics, organizations may refer to Annex B: 
Topic Guide) 
 
 
Contextual Information 
 
 Company Details  
Name of Organization BOULEVARD HOLDINGS, INC. 
Location of Headquarters 1704 The Peak Tower, 107 L.P. Leviste St., Salcedo Village, Makati 

City, Philippines 
Location of Operations -Boquete Island, Puerto Galera 

-White Beach Station 1, Malay, Aklan 
Report Boundary: Legal 
entities (e.g. subsidiaries) 
included in this 
report* 

-Friday’s Puerto Galera, Inc. 
-Friday’s Holdings, Inc. (Boracay) 

Business Model, including 
Primary Activities, 
Brands, 
Products, and Services 

Investment, Hotel and Resort 

Reporting Period June 1, 2019 to May 31, 2020 
Highest Ranking Person 
responsible for this report 

Compliance Officer 

 
* If you are a holding company, you could have an option whether to report on the holding company 
only or include the subsidiaries. However, please consider the principle of materiality when defining 
your report boundary. 
 
Materiality Process 
Explain how you applied the materiality principle (or the materiality process) in identifying your 
material topics. 
 
BHI’s initial submission of this Sustainability Report, the Corporation identified the material topics, 
which are deemed relevant to the operations of the Group on the basis of the Sustainability Accounting 
Standards Board (SASB) Materiality Map, specifically, for the Hotel & Resort Industry. The SASB 
Materiality Map is referenced in the SEC Memorandum Circular No. 4, Series of 2009 on the 
Sustainability Reporting Guidelines for Publicly Listed Companies. Being a small holding company 
owning resort property and land parcels in the Provinces of Cavite, Aklan & Mindoro Oriental, we 
concentrated our subsidiaries’ direct impact on the:  
 
1) physical environment of our iconic destinations;   
2) the effect on the local employment & economy; and  
3) and finally the quality of positive interaction of our businesses towards parochial interaction & 
social attitudes from all stakeholders—patrons, suppliers, neighbours & local government units. 
 
So at the subsidiary level we tried to manifest the betterment of economics, environmental & social 
consequences, from BHI’s investments. 
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ECONOMICS 
 
Economic Performance 
Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed 
 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Direct economic value generated (revenue) 75,470,020 PhP 
Direct economic value distributed:   PhP 
a. Operating costs  62,126,001 PhP 
b. Employee wages and benefits: 21,961,125 PhP 
c. Payments to suppliers, other operating costs - PhP 
d. Dividends given to stockholders and interest payments 
to loan providers 

- PhP 

e. Taxes given to government 10,602,050 PhP 
f. Investments to community (e.g. donations, CSR) - PhP 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

In Boquete Island, Puerto 
Galera, Mindoro Oriental 
inside Muelle Bay & in Boracay 
Island, Aklan, BHI maintains & 
operates resort hotel entities.  
 
For Fridays Puerto Galera, 
Inc. (¨FPGI¨). Local economy. 
FPGI's existence in Puerto 
Galera, Province of Oriental 
Mindoro has been a grand boon 
because of the higher spending 
clients it has brought in, beyond 
the prevalent budget divers 
market found in next door 
Sabang & La Laguna  Beaches 
& Valleys.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Boatmen. Many once orphaned 
boatmen have found steady 
business shuttling FPGI's clients 
to & from the Muelle Port 
landing or are booked by steady 
day tours by boat. 
 
Shopkeepers, Fuel Suppliers, 
Local Technicians. It is also an 
understatement to describe the 
good benefits inuring to 
suppliers of food & drink, hotel 
room materials, and fuel. 
 
Water for Mindoro’s 
Indigenous Mangyan Tribes + 
2 Whole Baranggays. 
Moreover, with its water source 
built privately with 2¨ pipes and 
a system of pumps 9 kilometers 
away in Mangyan Tribal lands, 
the resort hotel has contracted 
the Mangyan to watch over 
those pipes and pumping 
system, also allowing diversion 
of its pure water to 2 large 
Baranggays as requested by the 
local government. The Mangyan 
family clan, from which the 
ultimate water source is drawn, 
have also been guaranteed 4 
employment positions as 
gardeners and caretakers to 
FPGI's extensive lawns and and 
landscape within its 4 hectare 
parcel fronting Boquete Beach. 
 

Local Hire. FPGI & FHI had 
hired permanent staffers with 
another casuals, trained in the 
highest resort standard of 
service. Management’s policy 
has always been to hire from 
local universities and technical 
institutes. This core personnel 
would impact 6x in the local 
economy vis the families they 
support, with their much higher 
pay grade. 
 
 
 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A, any economic investment 
has a boon > any inaction or 
non-investment 

N/A  N/A 



	 3	

 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Employment, transfer of high 
order hospitality skills, 
provincial salary rates to bolster 
profit margins, permanent 
presence to maintain eco-
tourism standard of destination 

All stakeholders—employees, 
suppliers, patrons, owners, local 
government units and 
environmentalists 

N/A, as is explained above 

 
 
Climate-related risks and opportunities 
 
The Corporation does not have sufficient information to fully assess the climate-related risks and 
opportunities at this stage. The Corporation has yet to implement certain metrics to assess the climate-
related risks and opportunities. 
 
Disclose the 
organization's 
governance around 
climate-related risks 
and opportunities 

Disclose the actual and 
potential impacts1 6 of 
climate-related risks 
and opportunities on 
the organization's 
businesses, strategy, 
and financial planning 
where such 
information is material 

Disclose how the 
organization identifies, 
assesses, and manages 
climate-related risks 

Disclose the metrics 
and targets used to 
assess and manage 
relevant climate-related 
risks and 
opportunities where 
such information is 
material 

Recommended Disclosures 
a) Describe the 
board's oversight of 
climate-related 
risks and 
opportunities 

a) Describe the 
climate-related 
risks and 
opportunities the 
organization has 
identified over the 
short, medium and 
long term 

a) Describe the 
organization's 
processes for 
identifying and 
assessing climate-
related 
risks 

a) Disclose the 
metrics used by the 
organization to 
assess climate-related 
risks and 
opportunities in 
line with its 
strategy and risk 
management 
process 

b) Describe 
management's role 
in assessing and 
managing climate-
related 
risks and 
opportunities 

b) Describe the 
impact of climate-
related 
risks and 
opportunities on 
the organization's 
businesses, 
strategy and 
financial planning. 

b) Describe the 
organization's 
processes for 
managing climate-
related 
risks 

b) Describe the 
targets used by the 
organization to 
manage climate-related 
risks and 
opportunities and 
performance 
against targets 

 c) Describe the 
resilience of the 
organization's 
strategy, taking 
into consideration 
different climate-
related 
scenarios 
including a 2°C or 
lower scenario 

c) Describe how 
processes for 
identifying, 
assessing, and 
managing climate-
related 
risks are 
integrated into the 
organization's 
overall risk 
management 
1 
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Procurement Practices 
 Proportion of spending on local suppliers 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Percentage of procurement budget used for significant locations 
of operations that is spent on local suppliers 

80 % 

 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Procurement is mostly local; 
with large equipment, we use 
local agents to source and 
install—for example, swimming 
pools, generator sets, building 
repairs are all local contractors 

Everyone in the local Boracay, 
Caticlan, Aklan, Puerto Galera 
and Batangas environment 
involved in supplies of foods, 
drinks, equipment, fuel, 
construction supply & building 
services. 

Source locally, as it is cheaper 
and enhances mutual commerce 
with our local trade brethren & 
neighbours. 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Cheaper, and long-term positive 
impact to upgrading local skills 
for further ease of sourcing and 
hiring in future. 

All Local activity. 

 
 
Anti-corruption 
 Training on Anti-corruption Policies and Procedures 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Percentage of employees to whom the organization’s 
anticorruption 
policies and procedures have been communicated to 

N/A % 

Percentage of business partners to whom the organization’s 
anti-corruption policies and procedures have been 
communicated to 

N/A % 

Percentage of directors and management that have received 
anti-corruption training 

N/A % 

Percentage of employees that have received anti-corruption 
training 

N/A % 

 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



	 5	

Incidents of Corruption 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 
disciplined for corruption 

N/A # 

Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed or 
disciplined for corruption 

N/A # 

Number of incidents when contracts with business partners 
were terminated due to incidents of corruption 

N/A # 

 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT 
 
 
Resource Management 
Energy consumption within the organization 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Energy consumption (renewable sources) None GJ 
Energy consumption (gasoline) None L 
Energy consumption (LPG) None Kg 
Energy consumption (diesel) 211,152 Liters 
Energy consumption (electricity) 909,859 kWh 
 
Reduction of energy consumption 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Energy reduction (renewable sources) None GJ 
Energy reduction (gasoline) None L 
Energy reduction (LPG) None Kg 
Energy reduction (diesel) ((∆Y 2018-2019 v 2019-2020)) 60,199  L 
Energy reduction (electricity) ((∆Y 2018-2019 v 2019-2020)) 691,773  kWh 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

- High-energy usage during 
summer months (March-June) 
due to resort high occupancy 
and high temperature and 
humidity. 

- Power generating equipment 
breakdown last Dec 2019 due 
to wear and tear. 

Suppliers. Exploration of a redundant 
power source such as renewable 
energy and / or tapping to the 
power grid as a main source of 
electricity.   

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

(2N System) N/A N/A 
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What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Exploration of having a (2N+1 
System for Power and Water 
Systems)(i.e. main source + 
redundant source) 

N/A N/A 

 
Water consumption within the organization 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Water withdrawal None Cubic 

meters 
Water consumption 5,850 Cubic 

meters 
Water recycled and reused 850.4 Cubic 

meters 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

- Scarcity of Water source in 
Puerto Galera, specially 
during summer impacted the 
operations of the resort. 

Guests and Staff Relocation of the water line 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Not enough water to use during 
operations 

The entire organization and 
Guests 

To look for another water 
source 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Upkeep of STP produces 
recycled water for plants and 
resort vegetation 

None N/A 

 
 
Materials used by the organization 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Materials used by weight or volume   

· renewable N/A kg/liters 
· non-renewable N/A kg/liters 

Percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture the 
organization’s primary products and services 

- % 

 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

Low sustainability percentile All To enjoin the staff and guests in 
nurturing a culture of 
environmental stewardship. 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

To GO GREEN and apply 
environmental programs such as 
conserving and protecting the 
eco-tourism environment. 

All Engagement on the programs 
stated herein for a more 
sustainable eco-tourism venues. 
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Ecosystems and biodiversity (whether in upland/watershed or coastal/marine) 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, 
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas 

1 Resort 

Habitats protected or restored (under UNESCO Marine Reserve) 3.7 Ha 
IUCN3 Red List species and national conservation list species 
with habitats in areas affected by operations 

None N/A 

 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

No direct impact. None N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

None, reportorial mandates are 
being followed 

N/A Upkeep and strict 
implementation of EMB 
Standards 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

- Enjoining staff on the 
environmental programs about 
conservation of eco-tourism 
sites and natural resources, 
engaging into a coastal clean up 
drives, and other marine related 
programs lead by the Local 
DENR Unit. 

Staff Supporting the middle 
management on the stated 
approach whilst ensuring proper 
funding is present. 

 
 
Environmental impact management 
 
Air Emissions 
GHG 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions estimate 250 Tonnes 

CO2e 
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions estimate 250 Tonnes 

CO2e 
Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) - Tonnes 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Minimal impact on GHG 
Emission that can be counteract 
by planting trees and strict 
implementation of PMP  

Resort Staff, Management and 
Locals 

To enjoin programs stated 
above. 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Warmer Environment All Strict implementation of DENR-
EMB mandates 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Resort Stakeholders to enjoin 
programs to upkeep eco-tourism 
sites and cultural awareness for 
sustainability. 

All Supporting the middle 
management on the stated 
approach whilst ensuring proper 
funding is present. 
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Air pollutants 
 
The group currently does not have sufficient information to assess risks and opportunities under this 
category. However, table below shows figures base on the installed APSI/APCF standard calculations. 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
NOx 360.81 Kg/y 
SOx  13.18 Kg/y 
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs)  26.9 Kg/y 
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) 29.45 Kg/y 
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) - kg N/A Kg/y 
Particulate matter (PM) - kg 25.36 Kg/y 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Minimal emission is expected 
on the two installed APCF 

None N/A 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Equipment breakdown due to 
poor maintenance and wear and 
tear 

All Strict implementation of PMP 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Further Pollutant reduction 
efforts by using renewable 
energy applications 

Management For future explorations 

 
Solid and Hazardous Wastes 
Solid Waste 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Total solid waste generated (estimated) 5,000 kg / y 

Reusable (estimated) - kg / y 
Recyclable (estimated) 50 kg / y 
Composted (estimated) - kg / y 
Incinerated None kg / y 
Residuals/Landfilled (estimated) 3,650 kg / y 

 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Minimal impact on solid waste 
generation, working closely 
with MENRO in residual waste 
management. 

LGU – MENRO 
Resort Staff 
 

Overseer of the program 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Improper handling of solid 
waste management can be a 
health hazard. 

Hotel and Resort To ensure that the program 
implemented by DENR is being 
strictly enforced. 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Investing in a modern 
equipment to treat the waste on 
site 

Hotel and Resort To all concerned departments. 
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Hazardous Waste 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Total weight of hazardous waste generated (estimated) 100 kg 
Total weight of hazardous waste transported (estimated) - kg 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

None, Hazardous wastes are 
kept in an enclosed cabinet and 
stored in a non-spillable 
container 

N/A N/A 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Improper handling of Hazardous 
waste can lead to fire, and 
health hazard 

Hotel and Resort Review policies and procedures 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
Effluents 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Total volume of water discharges 850.4 Cubic 

meters 
Percent of wastewater recycled 100 % 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in 
the impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

None, STP treated water is 
being used to water vegetation 

N/A N/A 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

None, STP is using and organic 
bacteria in treating the 
wastewater 

N/A N/A 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

Future system advancement 
using the treated water in toilet 
flushing system 

N/A For future explorations 

 
 
Environmental compliance 
Non-compliance with Environmental Laws and Regulations 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

- PhP 

No. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 

- # 

No. of cases resolved through dispute resolution mechanism - # 
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What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement in the impact? 

Which 
stakeholders 
are 
affected? 

Management 
Approach 

Physical Environment. No hotel had been able to secure permission to construct 
inside Muelle Bay for 35 years, given the virtual ownership monopoly of Muelle 
harbour & beach land by the Leandro V. Locsin Foundation, and the restrictions by the 
Office of the President, the DENR & PTA following the terms of the UN Biosphere 
status of Muelle, the premiere environmental attraction of Puerto Galera--until FPGI 
entered with its sustainable design now benefitting its local economy. With final 
approval from the President in 2009, FPGI implemented its careful planning. 
  
FPGI on the right inside Muelle Bay, & Muelle Port at 12 0'clock to FPGI 

 
  
  
--Design: Low impact to the environment; intention to expand to 70-90 keys from 32 
with conference & MICE facilities in sustainable way 
  
  

ALL FULL 
DILIGENCE 
in protecting 
the 
environment 
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--Coral & Mangrove. Because of the presence of FPGI adding security & vigilance, 
the Mangroves on Boquete Beach as seen on the right of the pictures have blossomed, 
whilst the coral reef below the beach has boomed into a diversified jungle of colourful 
fishes & large predators, including sea turtles; credit also goes to our close 
coordination with the University of the Philippines visits plus local DENR for the 
wonderful blossoming of the Mangroves, which have stabilized erosion. 
  
Fridays Puerto Galera site circa 2010, with mangroves on the right and left; 
Boquete beach at the front; coral below: 
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Fridays Puerto Galera site mid 2018, with Boquete beach at the front; re-grown 
coral below for snorkelling activity: 

 
  
Overall low impact construction of Phase 1, 32 keys 2018: 

 
 
 
---Beach Erosion Stopped. FPGI has built a 3/4 kilometer canal behind the hotel in 
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the hill and around its entire perimeter to prevent annual rains destroying the beach, 
which today is one of the smoothest white sand beaches in the destination of Puerto 
Galera 

 
  
  
  
--No Waste:  FPGI is still the one and only resort in Puerto Galera with a full blown 
high-end sewerage treatment plant installed by top end supplier, Eco System.  
  
--No Stress: FPGI had installed 3 low revolution generators housed in sound proof 
buildings above the resort, enough to produce its own power needs during high or low 
points of business activity. More important, it has not tapped into the local power grid 
avoiding the existing stress of the grid adding to daily problems of & incessant 
brownouts. 
  
--Another No Stress: FPGI had installed with Globe Telecom the latest wireless radio 
tower that points to the phone company's Batangas City base, thus offering 100mb 
seamless wifi service for its client, free domestic calls, & movie streaming services. 
The tower is to be dressed into a tall tree, eventually. Instead of tapping into the local 
Mindoro phone company, FPGI has helped bring the zone into the modern age of 
faster data communication. 
  
--Within Puerto Galera:  the resort, standing alone on Boquete Beach, with the 
cleanliness of equipment and landscaping, presents refreshment of spirit, offering 
absolute gentle clean breezy air & quietude to its patrons and the community. No 
Sox, Cox, nor CarMonox. 
  
 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which 

stakeholders 
are 
affected? 

Management 
Approach 

Tourism, Bleaching, Storms, Wastewater Pollution, Corals & Giant Clams. In 
other areas of Puerto Galera such as in nearby Sabang—please refer to photos above—
accelerated tourism and seawater pollution from lack of sewerage treatment plants to 
handle solid waste & wastewater discharges have posed a great risk to the 
environment. Lately, the government has stepped in to require all Sabang 
establishments to connect to a new sewerage treatment plant in the hill above the town. 
Again see photo. 
 
Nature. Also coral bleaching has led to death of many coral attractions since 1998 
within Muelle Bay. From 2008 and in the last 5 years, with strong government 
regulation, coral gardens & rare giant blue clam beds on both sides within Muelle Bay 

All Persevere 
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have regrown enough for a multitude of visitors from abroad and Metro Manila to 
enjoy the natural destination.  
 
Two super typhoons in 2006, the 3rd El Niño of 2010 and 2 less powerful direct-hit 
typhoons since 2019 & 2020 have destroyed fellow natural attractions of coral, beach, 
giant clam beds & surrounding island forest flora & trees to a smaller extent.  This 
indeed, is a good reminder of the Earth’s power. 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which 
stakeholders 
are 
affected? 

Management 
Approach 

Already explained above N/A N/A 
 
 

 
Employee Management 
Employee Hiring and Benefits 
Employee data 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Total number of employees 82 # 
a. Number of female employees 32 # 
b. Number of male employees 50 # 
Attrition rate 28% rate 
Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage 1:1 ratio 
 
 
Employee benefits 
 
Disclosure Y/N % of female employees 

who availed for the 
year 

% of male employees 
who availed for the 
year 

SSS Y 2% 1% 
PhilHealth Y 1% 1% 
Pag-ibig Y 2% 1% 
Parental leaves N - - 
Vacation leaves Y 40.40% 42.92% 
Sick leaves Y 38.38% 32.32% 
Medical benefits (aside from 
PhilHealth) 

N - - 

Housing assistance (aside from Pagibig) Y 4% 4% 
Retirement fund (aside from SSS) Y - - 
Further education support N - - 
Company stock options N - - 
Telecommuting N - - 
Flexible-working Hours Y 6% 18% 
(Others)    
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement 
in the impact? 

Management Approach 

Due to the temporary closure of the hotel and resort, 
the operation has downsized into skeletal workforce. 

The Corporation’s manning count is at minimum 
level. 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

SOCIAL 
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N/A  N/A 
 
 
Employee Training and Development 
 
Disclosure Amount Units 
Total training hours provided to employees   
a. Female employees 311 hours 
b. Male employees 548 hours 
Average training hours provided to employees   
a. Female employees 24 hours/employee 
b. Male employees 40 hours/employee 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement 
in the impact? 

Management Approach 

Employees are more motivated to work while 
learning through the trainings and seminars attended. 

The Corporation avails of trainings and seminars 
provided by third parties, best suitable to the 
development of employee skills and knowledge. 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

Improve the overall competence of the employees. Representative for each department to undertake 
trainings. 

 
Labor-Management Relations 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
% of employees covered with Collective Bargaining 
Agreements 

- % 

Number of consultations conducted with employees 
concerning employee-related policies 

66 # 

 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement 
in the impact? 

Management Approach 

  
What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
Employee turnover  
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

  
 
 
Diversity and Equal Opportunity 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
% of female workers in the workforce 39.02% % 
% of male workers in the workforce 60.98% % 
Number of employees from indigenous communities and/or 
vulnerable sector* 

- # 

 
*Vulnerable sector includes, elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable women, refugees, 
migrants, internally displaced persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo parents, 
and the poor or the base of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and E). 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement 
in the impact? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A 
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What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A 
 
Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights 
Occupational Health and Safety 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
Safe Man-Hours 15,024 Man-hours 
No. of work-related injuries - # 
No. of work-related fatalities - # 
No. of work related ill-health - # 
No. of safety drills 1 # 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement 
in the impact? 

Management Approach 

The impact is on the health and safety of all 
employees. 

The Corporation ensures that the labor standards are 
strictly followed. 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
Violations may result to penalties imposed by DOLE. Has established committees to address workplace 

safety issues and follow the required standards 
accordingly. 

What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

To improve the safety and security measures. Regular evaluation of safety procedures. 
 
 
 
Labor Laws and Human Rights 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of legal actions or employee grievances involving forced or child 
labor 

- # 

 
Do you have policies that explicitly disallows violations of labor laws and human rights (e.g. 
harassment, bullying) in the workplace? 
 
Disclosure Y/N If Yes, cite reference in the company policy 
Forced Labor N  
Child labor N  
Human Rights Y Policy on Anti Sexual Harassment 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement 
in the impact? 

Management Approach 

Welfare of the employees. Strict compliance to uphold the rights of its 
employees. 

What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
Possible lawsuits. The Corporation does not tolerate any violations 

committed. 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

Harmonious work environment can be achieved.  Consultation with legal counsel is always done before 
performing any activities that will affect employee 
welfare. 
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Supply Chain Management 
 
Do you have a supplier accreditation policy? If yes, please attach the policy or link to the policy: 
 
Do you consider the following sustainability topics when accrediting suppliers? 
 
Disclosure Y/N If Yes, cite reference in the company policy 
Environmental Performance N  
Forced labor N  
Child labor N  
Human rights N  
Bribery and corruption N  
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s 
involvement in the impact? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach 
N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A 
 
Relationship with Community 
 Significant Impacts on Local Communities 
 

Operations with 
significant 
(positive or 
negative) 
impacts on 
local 
communities 
(exclude CSR 
projects; this 
has to be 
business 
operations) 
 

Location Vulnerable 
groups (if 
applicable)* 

Does the 
particular 
operation 
have 
impacts on 
indigenous 
people 
(Y/N)? 

Collective or 
individual 
rights that 
have been 
identified that 
or particular 
concern for 
the 
community 

Mitigating 
measures (if 
negative) or 
enhancement 
measures (if 
positive) 

1. Tourism Puerto Galera N/A Y None Service engagement from 
the indigenous group 

2. Tourism Boracay N/A N None  
      
      

*Vulnerable sector includes children and youth, elderly, persons with disabilities, vulnerable 
women, refugees, migrants, internally displaced persons, people living with HIV and other 
diseases, solo parents, and the poor or the base of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and E) 
 
For operations that are affecting IPs, indicate the total number of Free and Prior Informed Consent 
(FPIC) undergoing consultations and Certification Preconditions (CPs) secured and still operational 
and provide a copy or link to the certificates if available: _____________ 
 
Certificates Quantity Units 
FPIC process is still undergoing  # 
CP secured  # 
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What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in the 
impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 
Customer Management 
Customer Satisfaction 
 
Disclosure Score Did a third party conduct the customer satisfaction 

study (Y/N)? 
Customer satisfaction 4 Y 
 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the organization’s involvement in the impact? 

Which 
stakeholders 
are 
affected? 

Management 
Approach 

Social Results. Many locals are very proud of the presence of FPGI. It is not 
uncommon for local government units to hold their meets at the resort or bring 
important guests of the Mayor's office to lunch at the restaurant. As well, the 
property is a must visit by the clients of other hotels as well as a destination 
from Metro Manila residents driving from the NCR or boating from the Punta 
Fuego-Tali Beach area for a lunch and day visit. The resort with its native and 
local materials, harkening back to the end of the Majapahit Empire and the 
entrance of the Spanish colonisation, certainly contributes to the high 
architectural structures of the beautiful Muelle Bay. FPGI has added to the 
destination of Puerto Galera & made its brethren residents & visitors proud. One 
is free to look up in social media  comments to verify the foregoing. 
  

 
  

All—
patrons, 
suppliers, 
boatmen, 
Mangyan 
tribes, local 
governement 
units, 
owners 

Flexible 
friendly 
address on 
ad hoc basis 
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What are the Risk/s Identified? Which 

stakeholders 
are 
affected? 

Management 
Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which 
stakeholders 
are 
affected? 

Management 
Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 
Health and Safety 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on product or service health and 
safety* 

- # 

No. of complaints addressed - # 
*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s 
formal communication channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to 
and acted upon by government agencies. 
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What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in the 
impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 
Marketing and labeling 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on product or service health and 
safety* 

- # 

No. of complaints addressed - # 
*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s 
formal communication channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to 
and acted upon by government agencies. 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in the 
impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
Customer privacy 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of substantiated complaints on customer privacy - # 
No. of complaints addressed - # 
No. of customers, users and account holders whose 
information is used for secondary purposes 

- # 

*Substantiated complaints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s 
formal communication channels and grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to 
and acted upon by government agencies. 
 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in the 
impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
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Data Security 
 
Disclosure Quantity Units 
No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses 
of data 

- # 

 
What is the impact and where 
does it occur? What is the 
organization’s involvement in the 
impact? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are 

affected? 
Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
What are the Opportunity/ies 
Identified? 

Which stakeholders are 
affected? 

Management Approach 

N/A N/A N/A 
 
 
 
 

UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
 
Product or Service Contribution to UN SDGs 
Key products and services and its contribution to sustainable development. 
 
Key Products and 
Services 

Societal Value / 
Contribution to UN SDGs 

Potential Negative 
Impact of 
Contribution 

Management Approach 
to Negative Impact 

Bhi’s FPGI Resort inside 
Muelle Bay is part of a 
UNESCO world heritage 
category as a Biosphere 
Reserve (page 6 
UNESCDOC DIGITAL 
Library, South-South Co-
Operation Programme On 
Environmentally Sound 
Socio-Economic 
Development In The 
Humid Tropics:  
¨Working Papers No. 18, 
1997¨) 

UNESCO & MUELLE 
BAY. FPGI’s Resort 
involvement is in the form 
of 32 rooms in 8 buildings, a 
large reception & restaurant 
center; extensive ant-erosion 
perimetral canal system of ¾ 
kilometres; underwater 
pipelines spanning 9 
kilometers to Mangyan 
tribal mountain lands; the 
only full blown sewerage 
treatment plant in Puerto 
Galera; extensive gardens 
and large swimming pools; 
and the largest tri-generator 
self-sufficient power center; 
 
Results:  FPGI is palpable in 
preserving the mangroves, 
stopping erosion of the 
sandy Boquete Beach inside 
Muelle Bay, guarding the 
mangroves and coral barrier 
reefs, whilst enabling both 
patrons & public to enjoy 
visits and snorkelling 
activity in the area, or just to 
take in the peaceful sights & 
sounds of a preserved 
natural destination with low 
architectural impact. 
 
Puerto Galera’s Muelle Bay 
in which Fridays Puerto 

None. N/A 
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Galera, Inc. is situated, is in 
the list of ¨Club of the Most 
Beautiful Bays of the 
World¨, the only recognized 
bay in the Philippines.  
Muelle Bay was designated 
in 1973 as a UNESCO 
environmental heritage 
associate site, under the 
Man and Biosphere 
Reserve sub-category. 

* None/Not Applicable is not an acceptable answer. For holding companies, the services and products 
of its subsidiaries may be disclosed. 
 




